
St. Albans City Council  
Regular Meeting 
October 12, 2020 
City Hall Auditorium, 6:30 
 
Members of the public are encouraged to observe and participate in person, while following social 
distancing protocols.  A Zoom channel will be provided for those who are unable to attend in person.  
There will be no chat function. 
 
The following guidelines will be in effect:  

 Public comment during the public comment period at the beginning of the meeting should be 
brief; limited to items not on the agenda; and used for making the Council aware of a situation 
that needs some attention.  The Council will typically just receive the information and not engage 
in a dialogue.   
 

 Public comment on a particular agenda item allows for a more thorough discussion.  Those 
seeking to comment on an agenda item may do so after recognition by the presiding officer and 
may request recognition by raising their hand at the appropriate time.  The Zoom hand raise 
function may be used as well.  The Council will no longer follow a roll call method for 
recognizing those that wish to speak.   

 
 Members of the public seeking to comment during the in person meeting will need to speak into 

a microphone and wear a mask so that the comment can be heard on the Zoom channel.   
 

 All public comment periods are subject to reasonable time limits established by the chair based 
on the number of people seeking to comment, the length of the agenda, and the time allotted for 
the subject matter.   

 

Zoom Information: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83946099462 

Meeting ID: 839 4609 9462 

Call-in #: 1 (929) 205 6099 

 

 

 

AGENDA FOLLOWS ON REVERSE 

  



AGENDA 

1. Call to order and Pledge of Allegiance 6:30 
 

2. Review of meeting protocol 6:32 
 

3. Police Department Awards Ceremony 6:35 
a. Life Saving Award, Corporal Kristine Koch 
b. Commendation Award, Corporal Zachary Koch 
c. Civilian Citation, Scott Munn 

 
4. Update on changing role of SRO, Chief Lamothe 6:55 

 
5. Consider adoption of Internal Affairs Policy (D&V) 7:10 

a. D. Cloud and Chief Lamothe 
 

6. Appointment of Matt Mulheron as Fire Chief (D&V) 7:30 
 

7. Planning Commission Update and Discussion, Stan Bradeeen 7:40 
 

8. Consider proposed changes for truck turning at top of Lake St, Chip Sawyer 8:00 
a. Overview of signage and plan for trucks on top of Lake Street 
b. Consider Emergency Ordinance concerning truck turning movements (D&V) 
c. First reading of Ordinance amendment concerning truck turning movements (D&V) 

 
9. City Manager Report 8:15 

a. Consider approval of racial equity training for staff and boards (D&V) 
b. Consider approval of Council Goals and Objectives (D&V) 
c. Update on We Are St. Albans campaign 
d. Update on Stay to Stay initiative 

 
10. Mayor’s Report 8:30 

a. Appointment of Recreation Board members (D&V) 
b. Determine process for interview and selection of PAB members (D&V) 
c. Approval of joint letter with Town for VCRD community visit (D&V)  

 
11. Council Reports 8:45 

 
12. Consider approval of regular meeting minutes: 9/14/20 (D&V). 8:50  

 
13. Consider approval of warrant: 10/1/20 (D&V).  8:55 

 
14. Adjournment 9:00 

 
 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 1

 

Saint Albans Police Department 
30 Lower Welden Street| St. Albans, VT 05478 | (802) 524-2166 

SUBJECT: Internal Affairs          
POLICY:  

REVIEW: annual 

 Review date: 
9/2020 

Authorized: _____________________ 
Interim Chief of Police 

NOTE:  This written directive is for the internal governance of the St. Albans Police Department. The directives contained herein are 
intended for agency use only and do not form the basis of any criminal or civil liability. Violations of these directives may form the 
basis for agency administrative sanctions only.  

 
 

PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for receiving, investigating, and 
processing compliments and complaints made about individual officers or the 
Department.  This function is critical for the maintenance of professional conduct.  The 
Internal Affairs function is often the basis by which the police departments’ integrity and 
professionalism are measured. 
 
There are five specific functions of the Internal Affairs process: 
 
 Protection of the Public:  The public has the right to expect efficient, fair, and 

impartial law enforcement, therefore, any misconduct by the department personnel 
must be detected, investigated, and properly adjudicated to assure the maintenance of 
these qualities. 

 
 Protection of the Department:  The department is often evaluated and judged by the 

actions of its individual members.  It is imperative that the entire organization not be 
subjected to public censure because of the misconduct of one member.  When the 
public knows that the department honestly and fairly investigates and adjudicates all 
allegations against its members, it is less likely that the public will find the need to 
raise a cry of indignation over alleged incidents of misconduct. 

 
 Protection of the Employee:  Employees must be protected against false allegations 

of misconduct.  Although being the subject of an investigation may be unpleasant or 
uncomfortable, the best protection for an employee is a complete and thorough 
investigation conducted in a timely manner that clearly and unequivocally supports 
the employee’s honesty and integrity. 

 
 Removal of Unfit Personnel:  Personnel who engage in serious acts of misconduct, 

or who have demonstrated that they are unfit for law enforcement work must be 
removed for the protection of the public, the department, and fellow employees. 

 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 2

 Correction of Procedural Problems:  The department is constantly seeking to 
improve its efficiency and its personnel.  Occasionally, Internal Affairs investigations 
disclose faulty procedures that would otherwise have gone un-noticed. 

 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the St. Albans Police Department to ensure that the integrity of the 
department is vigilantly guarded by investigating all complaints alleging misconduct by 
an employee, sworn, or non-sworn; such complaints may be filed by the public or by 
employees of the department.  All complaints will be investigated thoroughly, fairly, 
impartially, and expeditiously. 
 
PROCEDURES 
  
A complaint is any action taken by a citizen or employee to focus administrative attention 
toward any action or inaction by an officer or employee which the complainant considers 
to be illegal, contrary to proper procedure or conduct, or is in any manner prejudicial to 
that citizen or employee, the department, or community as a whole. Complaints may be 
made by any person, regardless of whether they are the affected person; however, the 
assigned investigator shall make every effort to identify and secure a statement from all 
affected persons.  Complaints made by department employees will be in written form.  
ALL complaints, even those which may be of an anonymous origin, will be given full 
attention. 
 
Complaints of Discrimination or Bias 
 
Any person reporting alleged misconduct of a St. Albans Police Officer that includes 
discrimination or bias based on race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or 
handicapped status shall be given a St. Albans Police Department “Complaint of 
Discrimination Form”.  The officer taking the complaint shall review the form with the 
complainant and ask that the complainant send the form to the NAACP-Champlain Area 
Chapter.  This does not relieve the St. Albans Police Department from the responsibility 
of taking and investigating the complaint in the first instance. 
 
Posting of Procedures 
 
Procedures to be followed in registering compliments and complaints against this agency 
or its’ employees will be posted in the Main Lobby of the St. Albans Police Department. 
 
Complaint Classifications 
 
All complaints received by the Department will be classified according to the nature of 
the complaint.  The classification will be either a Minor complaint, a Serious complaint 
or an Informational in nature.  This classification will be utilized for the appropriate 
assignment of investigative responsibility. 
 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 3

Minor complaint:  Infractions of any rules or regulations, procedural infractions, or acts 
such as rude or discourteous conduct shall be included in this classification.  This list is a 
basic guide but is not all-inclusive.  Any complaint may be placed in this classification at 
the discretion of the Chief of Police.. 

 
Serious complaint:  Any complaint that alleges or concerns the use of excessive force, 
deadly force, conduct unbecoming an officer, illegal, or criminal conduct, or driving 
while intoxicated, brutality, corruption, or breach of civil rights shall be included in this 
classification.  This list is a basic guide but is not all-inclusive.  Any complaint may be 
placed in this classification at the discretion of the Chief of Police. 
 
Informational: Whenever a member of the department is contacted by anyone who 
relates a complaint as to the actions or lack of appropriate actions of a departmental 
employee, but advises that they do not desire to file a complaint, the information will be 
recorded on the departments’ Citizens’ Complaint Form and the top portion of the form 
indicating that the report is made for informational purposes only shall be checked. 
 
Investigative Responsibility 
 
Minor Complaints: will generally be assigned to the ACI Lieutenant but may be 
assigned to a qualified independent investigator or agency at the discretion of the Chief 
of Police.  Results of the investigation must be delivered to the Chief of Police for 
review, approval, and necessary administrative action. 

 
Serious Complaints: will generally be assigned to a qualified independent investigator 
or agency but may be assigned the ACI Lieutenant at the discretion of the Chief of 
Police. Results of the investigation must be delivered to the Chief of Police for review, 
approval, and necessary administrative action. 
 
If an outside agency is requested to conduct a criminal investigation parallel to the 
Internal Affairs investigation being conducted by the St. Albans Police Department, the 
St. Albans Police Department shall fully cooperate with that investigation.  However, any 
information learned as a result of having informed the subject employee of their 
Administrative Rights, shall not be released to any person conducting a criminal 
investigation; such information may be found to be “fruit of the poisonous tree”, resulting 
in the inability to prosecute a criminal case. 
 
Notification, Routing, and Time Frame 
 
All complaints shall be forwarded to the Chief of Police within twenty-four hours of 
receipt.  If an acting Chief has been designated, notification to the Chief within twenty-
four hours of return is sufficient.  Notification by phone is sufficient as a temporary 
measure only.   
 
If the acting Chief believes an internal investigation must be assigned before the Chief 
returns the acting Chief may do so after consulting with the City Manager. 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 4

 
 
The expedient investigation of all complaints will follow this basic time schedule: 
 

1. The Chief of Police or the assigned investigator shall advise the complainant in 
writing that the complaint has been received and the name of the officer or agency 
assigned to the investigation.  

2. Assignment of the investigation will be made seven business days.  
3. The assigned investigator shall keep the complainant informed of the status of the 

investigation at regular intervals, not to exceed thirty days.  
4. All investigations will be completed within thirty days of receipt unless additional 

investigation requires an extension.   
5. Extensions must be approved by the Chief of Police.  
6. The subject officer and complainant shall be notified in writing when an 

extension is granted.   
7. During extensions, status reports shall be submitted to the Chief of Police.   
8. The Chief of Police is responsible for the written notification provided to each 

complainant and subject officer telling them the results of the investigation.  
9. This notification must be made within seven calendar days of receipt of the 

completed investigation. 
 
Complaint Forms  
 
Internal Affairs Complaint forms shall be available on the Department website and in the 
lobby.    
 
In the absence of a supervisory officer, any employee is required to accept a citizen 
complaint.  The Citizen Complaint Report should be read to the complainant if there is 
any doubt as to whether they understand the form. Before the complainant signs the form, 
they should read it to check for accuracy.  Should an acting supervisor receive a Serious 
Complaint, they shall notify a Lieutenant immediately so that they may interview the 
complainant. 
 
All interviews with complainants are to be conducted in the confines of an office or 
interview room.  Under no circumstances is any member of the department to discuss a 
complaint in any public place, including the police department reception area, which may 
be observed by an uninvolved person.  If the complainant is intoxicated at the time of 
their report, they shall be interviewed a second time when they are not intoxicated. 
 
On all complaints the complainant shall be told that they will receive a letter in the mail 
as a receipt for their complaint. The complaint will then be forwarded to the Chief of 
Police in accordance with other sections of this directive. 
 
Once a complaint is received, no member of the department may contact the complainant 
unless they are assigned to the investigation.  Any attempt to make unauthorized contact 
with the complainant may result in disciplinary action. 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 5

 
 
Note: Complaint forms are not to be completed by members of the St. Albans Police 
Department when they are acting as complainant on any internal matter.  A written 
statement to the Chief of Police or his designee shall be sufficient.  Any matter reported 
verbally to the Chief of Police, or any other supervisory officer, may result in the 
initiation of an Internal Affairs investigation by the receiving supervisor. 
 
Procedural Process of Investigation 
 
The internal investigation process is not to take away from the normal supervisor/ 
employee relationship that manages performance and minor disciplinary matters that 
occur on  a daily basis and as such all informational complaints shall be resolved at the 
lowest supervisory level possible; all others shall be forwarded to the Chief of Police.    
All investigations relating to improper actions or conduct will be conducted according to 
the procedures in this policy. 
 
All Internal Affairs investigations shall be conducted confidentially.  Only the results of 
the investigation may be released with authorization; the IA investigation reports shall 
not be made available to the public.   
 
Employee Investigation 
 
When an employee is under investigation or subjected to questioning for any reason that 
may lead to demotion, dismissal, or suspension, such investigation or questioning shall be 
conducted under the following conditions and requirements: 
 

1. When an employee is the subject of a complaint or an investigation, they shall 
be notified in writing unless notification would jeopardize the investigation.  
The notification shall include the nature of the complaint, the name of the 
complainant, the location of the alleged violation or complaint, and the name 
investigator conducting the Internal Affairs investigation. 

 
2. If an employee is the subject, witness, or potential witness in an 

administrative investigation, the investigator may ask the employee to answer 
questions voluntarily or to provide voluntary statement.  If the employee is the 
subject or witness of the administrative investigation and refuses to provide a 
voluntary statement, that refusal shall not be held against them, but they shall 
be read their Administrative Rights and compelled to answer questions and/or 
provide written statement(s).  (Garrity) 

 
If a written statement is given voluntarily, the employee must complete an 
Internal Affairs Employee Voluntary Statement Form, but may note on the 
form that they are completing the statement by another means, memo, 
letterhead, etc.  In all cases that a voluntary statement is taken, the employee’s 
signature and date must be affixed to every page. 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 6

 
If an employee is making a statement after having been ordered to do so, they   
shall NOT complete their statement on a voluntary statement form of any kind.  
They must complete the written statement on a department memo or 
letterhead. In all cases that a compelled statement is taken, the employee’s 
signature and date must be affixed to every page.  The investigating officer 
shall note all compelled statements in their final report. 

 
If, after an employee has been read their Administrative Rights, and they 
subsequently provide information that incriminates them, the investigating 
officer shall complete a comprehensive report noting the incriminating 
information. Before the Internal Investigation is pursued further, the 
investigator shall notify the Lieutenant or Police Chief as applicable.  The 
information disclosed by the employee cannot be used against them in a 
criminal case, however, the investigator a criminal investigation may be 
authorized. 

 
3. If the employee is being questioned in a criminal matter, before they are 

questioned, the investigator SHALL read them their Miranda Rights 
regardless of whether the officer is under arrest or not; there is no such thing 
as a “voluntary statement” during an internal criminal investigation.  

 
Officers from Outside Agencies 
 
If allegations are made about an officer from an outside agency, the St. Albans Police 
Department shall forward a copy of the allegations to the ACI Lieutenant of the 
department having responsibility for the accused officer.  However, if the accused officer 
is alleged to have committed a criminal offense within the jurisdiction of the St. Albans 
Police Department, the St. Albans Police Department shall investigate the matter, or shall 
cause to have the matter investigated. 
 
The St. Albans Police Department shall maintain an Internal Affairs Investigation case 
number and report file of activity relative to the outside agency notification, initial 
complaint, etc.    
 
If the allegations against any officer rise to the level of a criminal offense, the St. Albans 
Police Department shall inform the Director of the Vermont Criminal Justice Training 
Council that such an investigation is underway. 
 
If an officer from an outside agency may be a witness to allegations against a St. Albans 
Police Officer, the St. Albans Police Department shall contact the Department Head of 
the witness officer’s agency and request permission to speak with the witness officer. 
 
In the case of a “serious complaint” The investigator representing the St. Albans Police 
Department may subpoena the witness officer from another agency and compel their 
testimony if the witness officer does not wish to testify.  If the allegations are classified 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 7

as a “minor complaint”, the investigator may decide whether or not to proceed with the 
subpoena process. 

 
Recording and Representation 

 
1. Interviews may be audio or video recorded during the investigation of SERIOUS 

complaints at the discretion of the Chief of Police.  There will be no “off the 
record” conversations.  Upon request, copies of any recordings or interview 
transcripts made shall be provided to the employee at the departments’ expense. 

 
2. During proceedings that may result in suspension, demotion, or termination, 

employees are permitted to have a union representative or a lawyer present during 
any interview.  Investigators cannot tell the representative that they may observe 
only, but in fact, that they are encouraged to participate with regard to matters of 
contract and law.  If the employee requests representation, the employee is 
entitled to a reasonable delay while waiting, provided that the employee is 
separated from other employees and the actions complained of do not represent a 
danger (NLRB v. Weingarten, 420 U.S. 251).    

 
3. Employees shall cooperate fully with any Internal Affairs investigation and shall 

answer all questions asked of them during any Internal Affairs investigation.  In 
the event that an employee refuses to answer questions, they shall be ordered to 
answer the questions.  If the employee still refuses to answer questions, they shall 
be immediately placed on Administrative Leave pending further actions by the 
Chief of Police.  This directive shall not apply if the employee invokes their 
Miranda Right.  

 
If an employee has been read their Miranda Rights pursuant to any Internal 
Affairs investigation and refuses to answer any question, that employee shall be 
placed on Administrative Leave, pending further actions by the Chief of Police.  
However, the employee shall not be compelled to answer questions once 
informed of their Miranda Rights.  No ranking officer shall order an employee to 
answer questions once they have been informed of their Miranda Rights. 
 
If an employee is making a statement after having been read Miranda, they may 
complete their statement on a voluntary statement form but may note on the form 
that they are completing the statement by another means, i.e. department memo, 
letterhead, etc.  In all cases that a voluntary statement is taken, the employee’s 
signature and date must be affixed to every page. 
 

4. When a complaint is filed and an investigation conducted, the employee may be 
required to submit to a medical or laboratory examination at the departments' 
expense, photographs, audio or video recordings, lineups, financial statement 
disclosure, polygraph examinations, searches of lockers, desks, or other assigned 
work areas on City property. Investigators shall have probable cause to believe 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 8

that their use of one of these techniques will be instrumental in finding a 
conclusion of fact.   
 
In no instance is a search warrant required to search an employees’ desk, locker, 
department issued vehicle, or other department owned workspace or equipment.  
In no instance is a search warrant required to seize any department owned 
property for examination provided that the item is located in a place that a search 
warrant would not otherwise be required.  If an employee has department issued 
property on their person, they shall be required to surrender such property upon 
demand of a superior officer. 

 
5. Employees shall be notified in writing of any search conducted and given a 

receipt for any item seized.  Refusal to submit to any investigative technique 
could result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.  When used, 
these techniques shall be narrowly and specifically related to the alleged offense.  
I.E. if a complainant alleges a financial impropriety, disclosure of financial 
statements may be appropriate, but medical and laboratory exams would not. 

 
In no instance may an employee's home, car, or person be searched without a 
warrant or other existing exceptions as defined in the Search and Seizure policy 
of this manual. 
 

Disposition of Internal Affairs Investigation 
 
Upon completion of the internal investigation, the assigned investigator, if applicable,  
shall submit a report of their findings to the Chief within three working days of the 
conclusion.  The investigator shall be a finder of fact only, and shall not make any 
recommendation as to disciplinary action.   
 
The Chief of Police shall notify the complainant and the subject employee within five 
days of the conclusion of the investigation and the disposition. 
 
One of the following conclusions of fact shall be the final disposition: 
 

1. Not Sustained: There is insufficient evidence to prove or disprove this complaint.  
This finding may be used for any complaint that has gone “unresolved”. 

 
2. Exonerated:  The incident occurred but the employees’ actions were justified, 

lawful, and proper. 
 
3. Unfounded:  The complainant admits to false allegations; the charges were false 

or not factual, or the employee was not involved in the incident. 
 

4. Sustained:  The allegation(s) is supported by sufficient evidence to indicate the 
employee did, in fact, commit one or more of the alleged acts. 

 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 9

Disciplinary Action 
 
The authority to discipline is exclusively that of the City of St. Albans.  Disciplinary 
actions shall be rendered consistent with the personnel policies and Union contract. 
 
Reporting 
 
An annual report shall be submitted by the ACI Lieutenant to the Chief of Police, the 
City Manager, the City Council, and the Police Advisory Board.  This report shall also be 
made available to the public by being posted on the department website and to employees 
by being posted on the Chief’s Information Board in the hall. 
 



MEMORANDUM 

To: St. Albans City Council 
From: Dominic Cloud, City Manager 
Re: Internal Affairs Policy 
Date: October 8, 2020 
 
Attached are proposed changes to the IA policy as discussed at the last meeting.  Changes are highlighted 
in yellow. 

The following changes are proposed: 

1. Definitions: 
Bias and Discrimination. 

2. Disability was a change from handicap 
 

3. Section about complaint made against Chief or Acting Chief.  We put in  a paragraph under 
Notification.   
 

4. Complaint forms will be available at City Hall.  This will alleviate concern about wanting them in 
a secondary location. 
 

5. A line for interpreter services was added.  It’s also on the complaint form now as being the 
responsibility of the receiver of the form to coordinate that service if necessary. 
 

6. We highlighted the section of the complainant not being contacted once making the complaint.   
 

7. Added section 5 under disposition to match the disposition sheet. 
 

8. Added that the summary report may be submitted more frequently than yearly at the request of 
the City Council or City Manager. 
 

There was a request at the last meeting to add a section for appeals.  We have discussed the matter with 
MRI and we do not believe this is appropriate.  The appeal would have to go to the City Council or the 
City Manager, and this negates the entire purpose of an independent investigation by a qualified expert 
and politicizes the process.  

A person who is dissatisfied with the outcome can file a civil lawsuit and/or seek criminal prosecution 
through the State’s Attorney or Attorney General.  There is a provision under federal law allowing a 
successful plaintiff to collect attorney’s fees so there is no financial impact on a grievant who needs to 
utilize this process.   

I addition, a suggestion on harassment was suggested; however, this is addressed in our policy on fair and 
impartial policing and bias.   

These policies are now presented in final form as we ask the Council to consider an affirmative vote.   

 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 1 

 

Saint Albans Police Department 
30 Lower Welden Street| St. Albans, VT 05478 | (802) 524-2166 

SUBJECT: Internal Affairs          
POLICY:  

REVIEW: annual 

 Review date: 
9/2020 

Authorized: _____________________ 
Interim Chief of Police 

NOTE:  This written directive is for the internal governance of the St. Albans Police Department. The directives contained herein 
are intended for agency use only and do not form the basis of any criminal or civil liability. Violations of these directives may form 
the basis for agency administrative sanctions only.  

 
 

PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for receiving, investigating, and 
processing compliments and complaints made about individual officers or the 
Department.  This function is critical for the maintenance of professional conduct.  The 
Internal Affairs function is often the basis by which the police departments’ integrity and 
professionalism are measured. 
 
There are five specific functions of the Internal Affairs process: 
 
• Protection of the Public:  The public has the right to expect efficient, fair, and 

impartial law enforcement, therefore, any misconduct by the department personnel 
must be detected, investigated, and properly adjudicated to assure the maintenance of 
these qualities. 

 
• Protection of the Department:  The department is often evaluated and judged by the 

actions of its individual members.  It is imperative that the entire organization not be 
subjected to public censure because of the misconduct of one member.  When the 
public knows that the department honestly and fairly investigates and adjudicates all 
allegations against its members, it is less likely that the public will find the need to 
raise a cry of indignation over alleged incidents of misconduct. 

 
• Protection of the Employee:  Employees must be protected against false allegations 

of misconduct.  Although being the subject of an investigation may be unpleasant or 
uncomfortable, the best protection for an employee is a complete and thorough 
investigation conducted in a timely manner that clearly and unequivocally supports 
the employee’s honesty and integrity. 

 
• Removal of Unfit Personnel:  Personnel who engage in serious acts of misconduct, 

or who have demonstrated that they are unfit for law enforcement work must be 
removed for the protection of the public, the department, and fellow employees. 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 2 

 
• Correction of Procedural Problems:  The department is constantly seeking to 

improve its efficiency and its personnel.  Occasionally, Internal Affairs investigations 
disclose faulty procedures that would otherwise have gone un-noticed. 

 
POLICY 
 
It is the policy of the St. Albans Police Department to ensure that the integrity of the 
department is vigilantly guarded by investigating all complaints alleging misconduct by 
an employee, sworn, or non-sworn; such complaints may be filed by the public or by 
employees of the department.  All complaints will be investigated thoroughly, fairly, 
impartially, and expeditiously. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Bias: The action of supporting or opposing a particular person or thing in an unfair 
way, because of allowing personal opinions to influence your judgment. This could 
include bias based on on race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability. 
 
Discrimination:  Prejudiced or prejudicial outlook, action, or treatment directed at a 
person or persons. 
 
 
PROCEDURES 
  
A complaint is any action taken by a citizen or employee to focus administrative attention 
toward any action or inaction by an officer or employee which the complainant considers 
to be illegal, contrary to proper procedure or conduct, or is in any manner prejudicial to 
that citizen or employee, the department, or community as a whole. Complaints may be 
made by any person, regardless of whether they are the affected person; however, the 
assigned investigator shall make every effort to identify and secure a statement from all 
affected persons.  Complaints made by department employees will be in written form.  
ALL complaints, even those which may be of an anonymous origin, will be given full 
attention. 
 

Complaints of Discrimination or Bias 
 
Any person reporting alleged misconduct of a St. Albans Police Officer that includes 
discrimination or bias based on race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability 
status shall be given a St. Albans Police Department “Complaint of Discrimination 
Form”.  The officer taking the complaint shall review the form with the complainant and 
ask that the complainant send the form to the NAACP-Champlain Area Chapter.  This 
does not relieve the St. Albans Police Department from the responsibility of taking and 
investigating the complaint in the first instance. 
 

Posting of Procedures 

https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/prejudiced
https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/prejudicial


 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 3 

 
Procedures to be followed in registering compliments and complaints against this agency 
or its’ employees will be posted in the Main Lobby of the St. Albans Police Department. 
 
Complaint Classifications 
 
All complaints received by the Department will be classified according to the nature of 
the complaint.  The classification will be either a Minor complaint, a Serious complaint 
or an Informational in nature.  This classification will be utilized for the appropriate 
assignment of investigative responsibility. 
 
Minor complaint:  Infractions of any rules or regulations, procedural infractions, or acts 
such as rude or discourteous conduct shall be included in this classification.  This list is a 
basic guide but is not all-inclusive.  Any complaint may be placed in this classification at 
the discretion of the Chief of Police.. 

 
Serious complaint:  Any complaint that alleges or concerns the use of excessive force, 
deadly force, conduct unbecoming an officer, illegal, or criminal conduct, or driving 
while intoxicated, brutality, corruption, or breach of civil rights shall be included in this 
classification.  This list is a basic guide but is not all-inclusive.  Any complaint may be 
placed in this classification at the discretion of the Chief of Police. 
 
Informational: Whenever a member of the department is contacted by anyone who 
relates a complaint as to the actions or lack of appropriate actions of a departmental 
employee, but advises that they do not desire to file a complaint, the information will be 
recorded on the departments’ Citizens’ Complaint Form and the top portion of the form 
indicating that the report is made for informational purposes only shall be checked. 
 
Investigative Responsibility 
 
Minor Complaints: will generally be assigned to the ACI Lieutenant but may be 
assigned to a qualified independent investigator or agency at the discretion of the Chief of 
Police.  Results of the investigation must be delivered to the Chief of Police for review, 
approval, and necessary administrative action. 

 
Serious Complaints: will generally be assigned to a qualified independent investigator or 
agency but may be assigned the ACI Lieutenant at the discretion of the Chief of Police. 
Results of the investigation must be delivered to the Chief of Police for review, approval, 
and necessary administrative action. 
 
If an outside agency is requested to conduct a criminal investigation parallel to the 
Internal Affairs investigation being conducted by the St. Albans Police Department, the 
St. Albans Police Department shall fully cooperate with that investigation.  However, any 
information learned as a result of having informed the subject employee of their 
Administrative Rights, shall not be released to any person conducting a criminal 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 4 

investigation; such information may be found to be “fruit of the poisonous tree”, resulting 
in the inability to prosecute a criminal case. 
 
Notification, Routing, and Time Frame 
 
All complaints shall be forwarded to the Chief of Police within twenty-four hours of 
receipt.  If an acting Chief has been designated, notification to the Chief within twenty-
four hours of return is sufficient.  Notification by phone is sufficient as a temporary 
measure only.   
 
If the acting Chief believes an internal investigation must be assigned before the Chief 
returns the acting Chief may do so after consulting with the City Manager. 
 
If the complaint is against the Chief or Acting Chief the complaint shall be forwarded 
directly from the receiving employee or supervisor to the City Manager.  In these cases 
the procedures of this policy will remain the same with the City Manager coordinating the 
investigation rather than the Chief of Police. 
 
 
The expedient investigation of all complaints will follow this basic time schedule: 
 

1. The Chief of Police or the assigned investigator shall advise the complainant in 
writing that the complaint has been received and the name of the officer or agency 
assigned to the investigation.  

2. Assignment of the investigation will be made seven business days.  
3. The assigned investigator shall keep the complainant informed of the status of the 

investigation at regular intervals, not to exceed thirty days.  
4. All investigations will be completed within thirty days of receipt unless additional 

investigation requires an extension.   
5. Extensions must be approved by the Chief of Police.  
6. The subject officer and complainant shall be notified in writing when an extension 

is granted.   
7. During extensions, status reports shall be submitted to the Chief of Police.   
8. The Chief of Police is responsible for the written notification provided to each 

complainant and subject officer telling them the results of the investigation.  
9. This notification must be made within seven calendar days of receipt of the 

completed investigation. 
 
Complaint Forms  
 
Internal Affairs Complaint forms shall be available on the Department website and in the 
lobby.   Forms will also be available at City Hall.   
 
In the absence of a supervisory officer, any employee is required to accept a citizen 
complaint.  The Citizen Complaint Report should be read to the complainant if there is 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 5 

any doubt as to whether they understand the form. If necessary interpreter services will be 
made available.  Before the complainant signs the form, they should read it to check for 
accuracy.  Should an acting supervisor receive a Serious Complaint, they shall notify a 
Lieutenant immediately so that they may interview the complainant. 
 
All interviews with complainants are to be conducted in the confines of an office or 
interview room.  Under no circumstances is any member of the department to discuss a 
complaint in any public place, including the police department reception area, which may 
be observed by an uninvolved person.  If the complainant is intoxicated at the time of 
their report, they shall be interviewed a second time when they are not intoxicated. 
 
On all complaints the complainant shall be told that they will receive a letter in the mail 
as a receipt for their complaint. The complaint will then be forwarded to the Chief of 
Police in accordance with other sections of this directive. 
 
Once a complaint is received, no member of the department may contact the complainant 
unless they are assigned to the investigation.  Any attempt to make unauthorized contact 
with the complainant may result in disciplinary action. 
 
 
Note: Complaint forms are not to be completed by members of the St. Albans Police 
Department when they are acting as complainant on any internal matter.  A written 
statement to the Chief of Police or his designee shall be sufficient.  Any matter reported 
verbally to the Chief of Police, or any other supervisory officer, may result in the 
initiation of an Internal Affairs investigation by the receiving supervisor. 
 
Procedural Process of Investigation 
 
The internal investigation process is not to take away from the normal supervisor/ 
employee relationship that manages performance and minor disciplinary matters that 
occur on  a daily basis and as such all informational complaints shall be resolved at the 
lowest supervisory level possible; all others shall be forwarded to the Chief of Police.    
All investigations relating to improper actions or conduct will be conducted according to 
the procedures in this policy. 
 
All Internal Affairs investigations shall be conducted confidentially.  Only the results of 
the investigation may be released with authorization; the IA investigation reports shall not 
be made available to the public.   
 
Employee Investigation 
 
When an employee is under investigation or subjected to questioning for any reason that 
may lead to demotion, dismissal, or suspension, such investigation or questioning shall be 
conducted under the following conditions and requirements: 
 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 6 

1. When an employee is the subject of a complaint or an investigation, they shall 
be notified in writing unless notification would jeopardize the investigation.  
The notification shall include the nature of the complaint, the name of the 
complainant, the location of the alleged violation or complaint, and the name 
investigator conducting the Internal Affairs investigation. 

 
2. If an employee is the subject, witness, or potential witness in an administrative 

investigation, the investigator may ask the employee to answer questions 
voluntarily or to provide voluntary statement.  If the employee is the subject or 
witness of the administrative investigation and refuses to provide a voluntary 
statement, that refusal shall not be held against them, but they shall be read 
their Administrative Rights and compelled to answer questions and/or provide 
written statement(s).  (Garrity) 

 
If a written statement is given voluntarily, the employee must complete an 
Internal Affairs Employee Voluntary Statement Form, but may note on the 
form that they are completing the statement by another means, memo, 
letterhead, etc.  In all cases that a voluntary statement is taken, the employee’s 
signature and date must be affixed to every page. 

 
If an employee is making a statement after having been ordered to do so, they   
shall NOT complete their statement on a voluntary statement form of any kind.  
They must complete the written statement on a department memo or letterhead. 
In all cases that a compelled statement is taken, the employee’s signature and 
date must be affixed to every page.  The investigating officer shall note all 
compelled statements in their final report. 

 
If, after an employee has been read their Administrative Rights, and they 
subsequently provide information that incriminates them, the investigating 
officer shall complete a comprehensive report noting the incriminating 
information. Before the Internal Investigation is pursued further, the 
investigator shall notify the Lieutenant or Police Chief as applicable.  The 
information disclosed by the employee cannot be used against them in a 
criminal case, however, the investigator a criminal investigation may be 
authorized. 

 
3. If the employee is being questioned in a criminal matter, before they are 

questioned, the investigator SHALL read them their Miranda Rights regardless 
of whether the officer is under arrest or not; there is no such thing as a 
“voluntary statement” during an internal criminal investigation.  

 
Officers from Outside Agencies 
 
If allegations are made about an officer from an outside agency, the St. Albans Police 
Department shall forward a copy of the allegations to the ACI Lieutenant of the 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 7 

department having responsibility for the accused officer.  However, if the accused officer 
is alleged to have committed a criminal offense within the jurisdiction of the St. Albans 
Police Department, the St. Albans Police Department shall investigate the matter, or shall 
cause to have the matter investigated. 
 
The St. Albans Police Department shall maintain an Internal Affairs Investigation case 
number and report file of activity relative to the outside agency notification, initial 
complaint, etc.    
 
If the allegations against any officer rise to the level of a criminal offense, the St. Albans 
Police Department shall inform the Director of the Vermont Criminal Justice Training 
Council that such an investigation is underway. 
 
If an officer from an outside agency may be a witness to allegations against a St. Albans 
Police Officer, the St. Albans Police Department shall contact the Department Head of 
the witness officer’s agency and request permission to speak with the witness officer. 
 
In the case of a “serious complaint” The investigator representing the St. Albans Police 
Department may subpoena the witness officer from another agency and compel their 
testimony if the witness officer does not wish to testify.  If the allegations are classified as 
a “minor complaint”, the investigator may decide whether or not to proceed with the 
subpoena process. 

 
Recording and Representation 

 
1. Interviews may be audio or video recorded during the investigation of SERIOUS 

complaints at the discretion of the Chief of Police.  There will be no “off the 
record” conversations.  Upon request, copies of any recordings or interview 
transcripts made shall be provided to the employee at the departments’ expense. 

 
2. During proceedings that may result in suspension, demotion, or termination, 

employees are permitted to have a union representative or a lawyer present during 
any interview.  Investigators cannot tell the representative that they may observe 
only, but in fact, that they are encouraged to participate with regard to matters of 
contract and law.  If the employee requests representation, the employee is entitled 
to a reasonable delay while waiting, provided that the employee is separated from 
other employees and the actions complained of do not represent a danger (NLRB 
v. Weingarten, 420 U.S. 251).    

 
3. Employees shall cooperate fully with any Internal Affairs investigation and shall 

answer all questions asked of them during any Internal Affairs investigation.  In 
the event that an employee refuses to answer questions, they shall be ordered to 
answer the questions.  If the employee still refuses to answer questions, they shall 
be immediately placed on Administrative Leave pending further actions by the 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 8 

Chief of Police.  This directive shall not apply if the employee invokes their 
Miranda Right.  

 
If an employee has been read their Miranda Rights pursuant to any Internal Affairs 
investigation and refuses to answer any question, that employee shall be placed on 
Administrative Leave, pending further actions by the Chief of Police.  However, 
the employee shall not be compelled to answer questions once informed of their 
Miranda Rights.  No ranking officer shall order an employee to answer questions 
once they have been informed of their Miranda Rights. 
 
If an employee is making a statement after having been read Miranda, they may 
complete their statement on a voluntary statement form but may note on the form 
that they are completing the statement by another means, i.e. department memo, 
letterhead, etc.  In all cases that a voluntary statement is taken, the employee’s 
signature and date must be affixed to every page. 
 

4. When a complaint is filed and an investigation conducted, the employee may be 
required to submit to a medical or laboratory examination at the departments' 
expense, photographs, audio or video recordings, lineups, financial statement 
disclosure, polygraph examinations, searches of lockers, desks, or other assigned 
work areas on City property. Investigators shall have probable cause to believe 
that their use of one of these techniques will be instrumental in finding a 
conclusion of fact.   
 
In no instance is a search warrant required to search an employees’ desk, locker, 
department issued vehicle, or other department owned workspace or equipment.  
In no instance is a search warrant required to seize any department owned 
property for examination provided that the item is located in a place that a search 
warrant would not otherwise be required.  If an employee has department issued 
property on their person, they shall be required to surrender such property upon 
demand of a superior officer. 

 
5. Employees shall be notified in writing of any search conducted and given a receipt 

for any item seized.  Refusal to submit to any investigative technique could result 
in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.  When used, these techniques 
shall be narrowly and specifically related to the alleged offense.  I.E. if a 
complainant alleges a financial impropriety, disclosure of financial statements 
may be appropriate, but medical and laboratory exams would not. 

 
In no instance may an employee's home, car, or person be searched without a 
warrant or other existing exceptions as defined in the Search and Seizure policy of 
this manual. 
 

Disposition of Internal Affairs Investigation 
 



 Internal Affairs    09/14/2020 
                                                                                         Revised  

 9 

Upon completion of the internal investigation, the assigned investigator, if applicable,  
shall submit a report of their findings to the Chief within three working days of the 
conclusion.  The investigator shall be a finder of fact only, and shall not make any 
recommendation as to disciplinary action.   
 
The Chief of Police shall notify the complainant and the subject employee within five 
days of the conclusion of the investigation and the disposition. 
 
One of the following conclusions of fact shall be the final disposition: 
 

1. Not Sustained: There is insufficient evidence to prove or disprove this complaint.  
This finding may be used for any complaint that has gone “unresolved”. 

 
2. Exonerated:  The incident occurred but the employees’ actions were justified, 

lawful, and proper. 
 
3. Unfounded:  The complainant admits to false allegations; the charges were false 

or not factual, or the employee was not involved in the incident. 
 

4. Sustained:  The allegation(s) is supported by sufficient evidence to indicate the 
employee did, in fact, commit one or more of the alleged acts. 
 

5. Policy Failure: The incident occurred but the officer/employee was acting in 
accordance with a department directive that requires review and/or changes. 

 
Disciplinary Action 
 
The authority to discipline is exclusively that of the City of St. Albans.  Disciplinary 
actions shall be rendered consistent with the personnel policies and Union contract. 
 
Reporting 
 
An annual report shall be submitted by the ACI Lieutenant to the Chief of Police, the City 
Manager, the City Council, and the Police Advisory Board.  This report shall also be 
made available to the public by being posted on the department website and to employees 
by being posted on the Chief’s Information Board in the hall.  The report may be 
submitted more often at the request of the City Council or City Manager.   
 



Matt R. Mulheron 
P.O. Box 81 ■ St. Albans, VT 05478 ■ (802) 309-1815   ■ m.mulheron@stalbansvt.com 

 
PROFILE 
 

Self-motivated, disciplined team player with proven track record to adapt quickly and effectively to the task at hand. Driven to set and 
exceed goals efficiently through time management skills and attention to detail. Excellent leadership skills and ability to bring people 
together as seen with the coordination of City and Town Fire Department Volunteers. Organizational, communication and problem solving 
skills, key to nurturing long-term relationships within the community. Possess exceptional quick-thinking and calm attitude during high-
pressure situations. Dedicated and loyal to my community and its citizens as seen through my longstanding tenure with the City of St. 
Albans. 
 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
 

City of St. Albans, St. Albans, VT                                                                           
Deputy Fire Chief                                                                                                                                    July 2012-Present 
 

 Act as the City’s Health Officer; responsible for enforcing the City’s Public Health and Safety Ordinance. 
 Act as the City’s Fire Marshall; manage and oversee the City’s Rental Registry program to ensure that all residential dwelling units are 

registered and inspected and that Certificates of Habitability are issued in accordance with the program.  
 Responsible for ensuring that all public buildings located within the City are maintained at established and adopted standards to protect 

health, safety and welfare of the occupants. 
 Responsible for day to day operations of the Fire Department including training, processing new hires and payroll completion.  
 Provide oversight and management of fiscal budget.  
 Responsible for the management and training of 27 call force members.  

 

Town of St. Albans, St. Albans, VT                 July 2000-Present 
Interior Assistant Chief 
 

 Responsible for ground operations at all fire scenes. Collaborate with team members to suppress an array of fire levels that minimize 
escalations. 

 Minimize fire damage by responding to alarms; driving and operating fire equipment/apparatus, combat and extinguish fires. Passionate 
about protecting lives and property.  

 Plan and organize all department training events and assist with scheduling.  
 

City of St. Albans, St. Albans, VT 
Public Works Superintendent                                                       August 2008-July 2012 
 

 Responsible for the daily operations of two water treatment facilities, one pumping station and a million gallon storage tank.  
 Managed nine full-time employees; responsible for all aspects of safety and job training and employee scheduling.  
 Responsible for and maintained 50 miles of distribution pipe.  
 Maintained 25 miles of sidewalks and roadways as well as 50+ miles of sewer collection. 

 

City of St. Albans, St. Albans, VT 
Water Plant Operator & Chief Water Plant Operator                               October 2005-August 2008 
 

 Operated and maintained the water plant, including but not limited to chemical regulation and monitoring, purchasing and inventory.  
 Routinely performed State water tests and sampling to ensure clean and safe drinking water to the citizens of St. Albans.  
 Repaired digital water meters, performed hydrant flushing and performed other distribution repairs and maintenance.  

 

City of St. Albans, St. Albans, VT 
Firefighter                                                                                August 2004-October 2005 
 

 Responded to and available for emergencies; operated all fire equipment and apparatus in addition to maintaining the fire station.  
 Repaired fire alarm boxes as well as repaired and maintained four traffic light intersections.  

              
City of St. Albans, St. Albans, VT 
Public Works Light Equipment Operator                                                                                                                      June 2001-August 2004 
 

 Assisted in maintaining the City’s infrastructure including but not limited to sidewalk repair, paving, repairing/replacing water lines, raising 
structures, mowing, building maintenance and light equipment operations.  

 Worked part-time throughout high school as needed repairing water leaks.  
 

City of St. Albans, St. Albans, VT 
Recreation Department, Maintenance                                                                                                  June 2000-August 2004 
 

 Held responsibility as Crew Chief; managed and delegated workload to other employees. 
 Maintained the City’s recreation parks including but not limited to mowing, garbage removal and painting.  

 

EDUCATION 
 

New Hampshire Community College; Associates Degree in Fire Science                    May 2004 



Matt R. Mulheron 
P.O. Box 81 ■ St. Albans, VT 05478 ■ (802) 309-1815   ■ m.mulheron@stalbansvt.com 

 
 
PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATIONS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS  
 

 State of Vermont certified 4C Water Operator 
 State of Vermont Grade 1DM Wastewater License 
 Certified Backflow Prevention Device Inspector 
 Firefighter I 
 Firefighter II 
 NAUY Diving Certified 
 CPR Certified 
 Hold a Commercial Driver’s License 
 Hazard Material Operations Certified 
 Confined Space Certified 
 Traffic Control Technician 
 ICS 100, 200, 300 & 700 
 Certified Building Inspector 
 Pro Board Certified Fire Investigator I&II 
 

REFERENCES 
 
Available upon request 



MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: October 9, 2020 
 
To: St. Albans City Council 
 
From: Chip Sawyer, Director of Planning & Development 
 
Re: Proposed solutions for truck turning issues on Lake Street 
 
One of the intended results of the City’s intersection improvements at the Lake-Federal-
Catherine-Market Street intersection was to have truck traffic use Market Street and Stebbins 
Street to get to Main St., because that route presents much better turning options for trucks. 
 
Recently, we have been made aware that large trucks turning right onto Catherine St. from Lake 
St. will hit the extended roof of 100 Lake if the trucks don’t use both the left turn and right turn 
lane on Lake St. to give themselves room. 
 
We also know that large trucks making right turns from Lake St. onto Main St. can sometimes 
damage the traffic signal poles at that corner. 
 
The staff recommendation for this situation is threefold: 
 

1. An emergency ordinance and a first reading of a permanent ordinance to ban right turns 
for trucks from Lake St. onto Catherine St. or Main St. 

 
2. A signage plan developed in concert with VHB to direct truck traffic to use Market St. 

and Stebbins St. to go south on Route 7 and I-89. 
 

3. Possibilities for a curb extension and indicator for the corner of 100 Lake St. 
 
Please see the attached ordinances for your consideration.  The fine scheme for violations is the 
same as that adopted for the Upper Welden St. truck prohibition. 
 
Also attached will be materials for the signage plan and curb extension, as available.  We’ll have 
all materials available by Monday evening. 
 
 



C.Sawyer
Line



Proposed Motor Truck Operation Emergency Ordinance 

Proposed Motor Truck Operation Emergency Ordinance – Page 1 of 2 
 
 

MOTOR TRUCK OPERATION EMERGENCY ORDINANCE OF OCTOBER 2020 1 
 2 
The Council of the City of St. Albans hereby ordains: 3 
  4 
Sec. 1.  Purpose.  5 
This Motor Truck Operation Emergency Ordinance is adopted under authority conferred by 6 
Sections 18(7) and 18(21) of the St. Albans City Charter.  The purpose of this Ordinance is to 7 
temporarily restrict truck turning movements from Lake Street onto Catherine Street and South 8 
Main Street in the City of St. Albans.  This Ordinance shall constitute a civil ordinance within 9 
the meaning of 24 V.S.A. Chapter 59.  This Ordinance is an emergency ordinance and shall be 10 
effective for 30 days from the date of its adoption by the City Council.  11 
 12 
Sec. 2.  Definitions.  13 
For the purpose of this Ordinance, the following words and phrases shall have the meaning 14 
ascribed by this Section: 15 
 16 
"Motor truck" means any motor vehicle designed primarily for the transportation of property and 17 
shall be construed to include truck tractor-semitrailer and truck tractor-semitrailer-trailer 18 
combinations.  19 
 20 
Sec. 3.  Civil Penalty; Other Enforcement. 21 
Any person who violates a provision of this Ordinance shall be subject to a civil penalty of up to 22 
$800.00 per day for each day that such violation continues.  Any law enforcement officer shall 23 
be authorized to act as an issuing municipal official to issue and pursue before the Vermont 24 
Judicial Bureau a municipal complaint. Such officer is authorized to recover civil penalties and 25 
waiver fees in the following amounts for each violation: 26 

     Civil Penalty  Waiver Fee  27 
First Offense       $    100     $   75 28 
Second Offense       $    300     $ 225 29 
Third Offense       $    500     $ 375 30 
Fourth and Subsequent Offenses   $    800     $ 600 31 
 32 

Sec. 4.  Prohibition of Motor Truck Right Turns.  33 
Motor trucks shall be prohibited from making right turns from Lake Street onto either of the 34 
following streets: 35 

a. Catherine Street 36 
b. South Main Street  37 

 38 
Sec. 5.  Other Laws. 39 
This Ordinance is in addition to all other ordinances of the City of St. Albans and all applicable 40 
laws of the State of Vermont.    41 
 42 
Sec. 6.  Severability. 43 
If any section of this Ordinance is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such 44 
finding shall not invalidate any other part of this Ordinance. 45 
 46 



Proposed Motor Truck Operation Emergency Ordinance 

Proposed Motor Truck Operation Emergency Ordinance – Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 1 
Sec. 7.  Approval and Adoption.  2 
This Ordinance is hereby adopted this ____  day of _______________, 2020, and shall take 3 
effect upon passage. 4 
 5 
City Council Signatures: 6 
 7 
____________________________________ 8 
 9 
____________________________________ 10 
 11 
____________________________________ 12 
 13 
____________________________________ 14 
 15 
____________________________________ 16 
 17 
____________________________________ 18 
 19 
____________________________________ 20 



Proposed Motor Truck Operation Ordinance 

Proposed Motor Truck Operation Emergency Ordinance – Page 1 of 2 
 
 

AMENDMENT TO REVISED ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF ST. ALBANS, VT 1 
 2 
First Reading, October 12, 2020. 3 
 4 
The Council of the City of St. Albans hereby ordains: 5 
 6 
Within Title 17 – Vehicles and Traffic, the creation of…  7 
 8 
CHAPTER 9.  LIMITS ON MOTOR TRUCK OPERATIONS  9 
 10 
Sec. 1.  Purpose.  11 
This Motor Truck Operation Ordinance is adopted under authority conferred by Sections 18(7) 12 
and 18(21) of the St. Albans City Charter.  The purpose of this Ordinance is to temporarily 13 
restrict truck turning movements from Lake Street onto Catherine Street and South Main Street 14 
in the City of St. Albans.  This Ordinance shall constitute a civil ordinance within the meaning of 15 
24 V.S.A. Chapter 59. 16 
 17 
Sec. 2.  Definitions.  18 
For the purpose of this Chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meaning ascribed 19 
by this Section: 20 
 21 
"Motor truck" means any motor vehicle designed primarily for the transportation of property and 22 
shall be construed to include truck tractor-semitrailer and truck tractor-semitrailer-trailer 23 
combinations.  24 
 25 
Sec. 3.  Civil Penalty; Other Enforcement. 26 
Any person who violates a provision of this Chapter shall be subject to a civil penalty of up to 27 
$800.00 per day for each day that such violation continues.  Any law enforcement officer shall 28 
be authorized to act as an issuing municipal official to issue and pursue before the Vermont 29 
Judicial Bureau a municipal complaint. Such officer is authorized to recover civil penalties and 30 
waiver fees in the following amounts for each violation: 31 

     Civil Penalty  Waiver Fee  32 
First Offense       $    100     $   75 33 
Second Offense       $    300     $ 225 34 
Third Offense       $    500     $ 375 35 
Fourth and Subsequent Offenses   $    800     $ 600 36 
 37 

Sec. 4.  Prohibition of Motor Truck Right Turns.  38 
Motor trucks shall be prohibited from making right turns from Lake Street onto either of the 39 
following streets: 40 

a. Catherine Street 41 
b. South Main Street  42 

 43 
Sec. 5.  [Reserved] 44 
 45 
Sec. 6.  [Reserved] 46 



Proposed Motor Truck Operation Ordinance 

Proposed Motor Truck Operation Emergency Ordinance – Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 1 
Sec. 7.  [Reserved] 2 
 3 
Sec. 8.  Severability. 4 
If any section of this Chapter is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such 5 
finding shall not invalidate any other part of this Chapter. 6 
 7 
Sec. 9.  Effective Date. 8 
This amendment shall take effect upon adoption by the City Council. 9 
 10 
Sec. 10.  Approval and Adoption.  11 
This amendment is hereby adopted this ____  day of _______________, 2020, and shall take 12 
effect upon passage. 13 
 14 
City Council Signatures: 15 
 16 
____________________________________ 17 
 18 
____________________________________ 19 
 20 
____________________________________ 21 
 22 
____________________________________ 23 
 24 
____________________________________ 25 
 26 
____________________________________ 27 
 28 
____________________________________ 29 







MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: October 9, 2020 
 
To: St. Albans City Council 
 
From: Chip Sawyer, Director of Planning & Development 
 
Re: Façade grant for La Casa Loco Bar & Grill sign 
 
I have attached a concept for a new sign at the La Casa Loco location on Kingman St.  This 
would be a unique sign with some features that “stand off” of the building façade and with halo 
lighting from LED lights placed behind the words and image. 
 
The proposal is for the City to grant funds at 50% of the sign’s estimated cost, much like the 
successful Drake Bar & Kitchen agreement from this spring. 
 
The current total estimate for the sign and installation is $4,600. 
 
Staff recommendation would be a grant for up to $2,300 or 50% of total sign fabrication and 
installation costs as invoiced, whichever grant amount would be smaller. 





C.Sawyer
Rectangle

C.Sawyer
Callout
New sign will be mounted to this existing wood panel.





RACIALLY CONSCIOUS 
COLLABORATION ™

© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any 
information storage and retrieval system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.

As your partner, I bring over 20 years of experience leading for racial equity.  I equip leaders to take systems 
from racial uncertainty to racial equity and inclusiveness.  The leaders that I have developed have 

successfully engaged in systemic equity transformation, and they will attest to my ability to help you succeed. 
–Tony Hudson, President & Founder



RACIALLY CONSCIOUS 
COLLABORATION ™

PREPARED FOR: Dominic Cloud, City Manager

ORGANIZATION: CITY OF SAINT ALBANS

CONTACT: D.Cloud@stalbansvt.com
1-802-309-1775
City of Saint Albans, VT. 

PREPARED BY: Tony Hudson, President & Founder

CONTACT:  T.Hudson@RaciallyConsciousCollabration.com

612-867-4199

© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval 
system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.



PURPOSE
Our purpose is to collaboratively organize people and resources to center racial consciousness and intersectional equity in relationships 
and collaboration.

© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and 
retrieval system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.

APPROACH TO TRANSFORMATION
I created the Racially Conscious Collaboration ™ tool after nearly 20 years of professional experience leading organizational and systemic 
racial equity transformation. I will assist you as a leader, and your organization, to center racial consciousness and intersectional equity 
in your relationships and collaboration. I have designed a toolbox to help you assess racial challenges and develop effective systemic change.

As your leadership development and organizational change partner I will facilitate your journey through the I3 Pathway of Transformation ™
(Internalization, Integration, and Implementation) with Racially Conscious Collaboration ™.

EXPERTISE
I meet leaders and organizations where they are, then I facilitate their shift from racial uncertainty and inequity to racial consciousness 
and inclusiveness. My clients are eager to share how they were able to engage in systemic racial equity transformation with my support.



© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval 
system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.

REFERENCES FOR TONY HUDSON, PRESIDENT & FOUNDER
Dr. Laurie Brotman, Director, New York University Langone Medical Center; New York, NY.
Laurie.Brotman@nyulangone.org
1 (212) 689-0562
1 (917) 208-1805
I provided consulting, coaching, and training to Dr. Brotman, and her organization where we developed and implemented a multi-year systemic racial equity transformation plan.   They were 
awarded the National Summit Award Leadership award recognizing the work that we had accomplished together. 

Chris Berger, Director of Communications, GHR Foundation, Minneapolis, MN.
cberger@ghrfoundation.org
1 (612) 481-3313
1 (612 440-2500
I provide consulting, coaching, and training to GHR toward the development and implementation of a systemic racial equity transformation plan of action.  I also provide additional one on one 
Executive Coaching to Mr. Berger.

Kevin Bogatin, Superintendent, North Bend School District; North Bend, OR.
k.bogatin@nbend.k12.or.us
1 (541) 401-4996
I provided consulting, coaching, and training to Superintendent Bogatin, and his former school system where we developed and implemented a multi-year systemic racial equity transformation 
plan. I was hired again as a consultant in Superintendent Bogatin’s new school district to develop and implement a systemic racial equity transformation plan of action. 

Jake Spano, Mayor, City of St. Louis Park, St. Louis Park, MN.
Jspano@stlouispark.org
1 (952) 649-0315
I trained Mayor Spano, and his City of St. Louis Park leaders to gain foundational tools for racial equity transformation.  We are currently exploring a partnership or city-wide racial equity 
transformation. 

Astein Osei, Superintendent, St. Louis Park Schools; Minneapolis, MN.
osei.astein@slpschools.org
651-494-2600
I provided consulting, coaching, and training to Superintendent Osei, and his school system where we developed and implemented a multi-year systemic racial equity transformation plan. 



CLIENT LIST SAMPLE

© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval 
system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.



© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval 
system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.

SERVICES
Systemic Partnership for Transformation with Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Transforming Strategic Planning with Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Executive & Leadership Coaching for Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Life Coaching for Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Keynote & Speaking

SEMINARS
Introduction to Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Foundations of Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Introduction to Executive Leadership of Racially Conscious Collaboration (RCCE) ™
Introduction to Leadership of Racially Conscious Collaboration (RCCL) ™
Introduction to Deep Implementation of Racially Conscious Collaboration (RCCD) ™
Introduction to Leadership Coaching with Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Black Love & Humanity: Working Toward Full Humanity by De-centering Anti-Blackness with Racially Conscious Collaboration ™

SERIES
Foundations of Leadership Coaching with Racially Conscious Collaboration ™
Executive Leadership of Racially Conscious Collaboration (RCCE) ™
Leadership of Racially Conscious Collaboration (RCCL) ™



© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval 
system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.

PROPOSED SERVICES FOR OUR PARTNERSHIP
I. FOUNDATIONS OF RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION™

Leaders will be introduced to the Racially Conscious Collaboration ™ foundational tool.  An expert RCC facilitator and 
consultant will provide a highly engaging and interactive introduction to Racially Conscious Collaboration ™; the foundational 
tool in the Systemic Racially Conscious Collaboration ™ framework. Your people will get to know the facilitation style of our 
people, while we get to know a bit more about the current capacity of your organization to center racial consciousness and 
intersectional equity in relationships and collaboration.  Your people will be introduced to our I3 Transformation Framework ™ 
(Internalization, Integration, and Implementation) that guides our path to meet organizational partners where they are, and usher 
them from racial uncertainty to racial inclusion and intersectional equity. By the end of this seminar your people will have 
engaged in relevant and meaning practice with the Racially Conscious Collaboration™ foundational tool for effective 
conversations about race.

(6 hours) Note: This seminar can be delivered in one day, or in two 3-hour segments on back to back days in virtual format.



Year 1: COST FOR SERVICES & SUPPORTS
Pricing is subject to change based on size of organization, travel versus virtual, and number of participants.

Foundation 
Component(s)

Date Facilitator Virtual/In‐Person Length QTY Price Subtotal

Foundations of 
Racially 
Conscious 
Collaboration™

October, or TBD Tony Hudson, 
President & 
Founder

Virtual 6 hours 2 12,000.00 12,000.00

1 of 1 Total $12,000.00

© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval 
system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.



THANK YOU

© RACIALLY CONSCIOUS COLLABORATION, LLC.  This document contains proprietary content. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval 
system, without the express written consent of the Racially Conscious Collaboration, LLC.

Tony Hudson, President & Founder

RACIALLY CONSCIOUS 
COLLABORATION ™

T.Hudson@RaciallyConsciousCollaboration.com
Phone: 612.867.4199



St. Albans City Council 
Goals and Objectives, 2020-2021 
Revised October 2020 
 
Recreation: strengthen community through diverse, quality programming and facilities 

1. Develop a revised pool proposal for voter consideration in March. 
2. Solicit more input from marginalized groups regarding access to pool; develop plan for providing access  
3. Work with Parks Commission to develop pocket park on corner of Maple and LaSalle 

Racial Equity, Economic Justice, and Diversity: promote and protect values of diversity and equity. 

1. Schedule and hold racial equity training for City staff and boards. 
2. Explore opportunities to partner with other agencies around racial equity in broader community. 
3. Explore strengthening promotion of St. Albans’ history with Underground Railroad 
4. Seek diverse participation in Taylor Park holiday decorations. 

Community Promotion: promote St. Albans as a welcoming City full of opportunity.   

1. Develop and implement We Are St. Albans / Say No to Hate Campaign 
2. Develop community promotion video 
3. Participate in remote Stay to Stay program 

Neighborhoods: improve neighborhoods by making public investments that encourage private investment. 

1. Develop a neighborhood façade grant program similar to downtown version. 
2. Develop low interest loan program for Neighborhood stabilization projects.  
3. Continue enforcement of PHSO and fire inspection program  

Police: deliver police, dispatch, and emergency management services that are consistent with Council’s vision 

1. Implement transformation road map. 
2. Operationalize Police Advisory Board. 
3. Hire new Chief of Police and Emergency Management 
4. Complete relocation into new facility 

Finance: manage City finances to ensure high return for dollars invested 

1. Develop FY 22 budget that adjusts to lack of Town police contract. 
2. Complete bond votes for remaining TIF projects (Kingman, Brownfields, Fonda, and Federal Street) before 

March 1, 2022. 
3. Implement local option sales tax program; revise LOT policy as necessary. 

Economic Development: encourage public / private investment in the City. 

1. Re-develop City owned properties at on High and Nason Streets 
2. Make strategic acquisitions of key redevelopment opportunities 
3. Explore retail subsidy / redevelopment combination plan to help transition out of Covid. 



Infrastructure: complete priority infrastructure projects that enhance the overall vitality of the City. 

1. Develop plan and timeline for fixing combined sewer overflow on Lower Welden. 
2. Develop plan and proposal for water tower refurbishment and additional tower. 
3. Complete Neighborhood Sidewalk project. 

Administration: provide strong administrative leadership that advances strategic objectives for the City.   

1. Incorporate energy conservation planning into decision making. 
2. Develop program or partnership for regular entertainment in City Hall Auditorium. 
3. Develop plan for utilization of former police facility upon their exit. 

Council Operations: build consensus around a common vision and direct staff to implement that vision 

1. Hold more strategic planning sessions. 
2. Bring all City Boards in to check in with City Council once or twice per year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



www.stalbansvt.com
Say No to Hate

We respect differences.
We are St. Albans.



www.stalbansvt.com

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur 
adipiscing elit, sed do eiusmod tem-
por incididunt ut labore et dolore magna 
aliqua. Ut enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exercitation

   - Sarah  Something

www.stalbansvt.com
Say No to Hate

We respect differences.
We are St. Albans.



www.stalbansvt.com

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consec-
tetur adipiscing elit, sed do eiusmod 
tempor incididunt ut labore et dolore 
magna aliqua. Ut enim ad minim ve-
niam, quis nostrud exercitation

       - Sarah  Something

Say No to Hate

We respect differences.
We are St. Albans.



 

 

 

October 9, 2020 

 

The St. Albans Recreation Commission has two vacancies.  In addition, the five remaining members 
terms have expired over the past several months.  The five current members would like be reappointed 
to continue to serve on the commission. 

The following is suggested for reappointment ‐ 

1. Peggy Manahan ‐   3 years 
2. Bryan Deslauriers – 3 years 
3. Mike Zemaniek  ‐ 3 years 
4. Matt Allen – 2 years 
5. Morell Bunbury – 1 year 

 

The following is suggested for new appointments ‐ 

Vacant Seat #6 – 2 years 

Vacant Seat #7 – 1 year 

 

 





 

1 
 

  St. Albans City Council 
Minutes of Meeting 

Monday, September 14, 2020 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

 
A regular meeting of the St. Albans City Council was held on Monday, September 14, 2020, at 6:30 pm in 
the City Hall Auditorium and via remote teleconference.  

 
Council Present:  Mayor Tim Smith; Aldermen: Michael McCarthy, Chad Spooner (arrived late) and Jim 
Pelkey (via Zoom) & Alderwomen: Marie Bessette and Kate Laddison.  

Council Absent: Alderman Hawkins.   

Staff Present: Dominic Cloud, City Manager; Chip Sawyer, Director of Planning & Development; Kelly 
Viens, Recreation Director; Andrew Gratton, Recreation Programs Manager; Curry Galloway, City Clerk; 
Tom Leitz, Director of Administration; Maurice Lamothe, Interim Police Chief; Matt Mulheron, Deputy 
Fire Chief and Marty Manahan, Director of Public Works, Operations & Business Development.  

Visitors: Jamie Pinkham, Wayne Elliott, Katie Foster, Brendan Deso, Angie Sturm, Erik Johnson, Sally 
McKenzie, Tanner McCuin, Reese Kelly, Reier Erickson Joannie McGinn and Zach Scheffler. 

 
1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance.  

Mayor Smith called the meeting to order at 6:36 pm and led the pledge of allegiance.  
 

2. Review of meeting protocol.  
Mayor Smith stated that council is working to improve the quality of the dialogue between members of 
the public who seek to participate and the council itself. The return to in person meetings is part of this 
effort. In addition, the following guidelines will be in effect. Public comment during the public comment 
period, at the beginning of the meeting should be brief, limited to items not on the agenda, and used for 
making the council aware of a situation that needs some attention. The council will typically just receive 
the information and not engage in a dialogue. Public comment on a particular agenda item allows for a 
more thorough discussion. Those seeking to comment on an agenda item may do so after recognition by 
the presiding officer and may request recognition by raising their hand at the appropriate time. The 
Zoom hand raise function may be used as well. The council will no longer follow a roll call method for 
recognizing those who wish to speak. Members of the public seeking to comment during the in person 
meeting will need to speak into the microphone and wear a mask so that the comment can be heard on 
the zoom channel. All public comment periods are subject to reasonable time limits established by the 
chair based on the number of people seeking to comment, the length of the agenda, and the time 
allotted for the subject matter. Comments may also be received via email or conversation with 
individual council members. Mayor Smith opened the floor for public comment on matters not on the 
agenda.  

 
3. Public comment on matters not on the agenda.  

Zach Scheffler of Lake Street  introduced himself.   He stated  that  in  the  last  few months, he has been 
documenting  some  instances of vandalism  in  the City of St. Albans and has  collected about 60 or  so 
instances of white supremacist hate group propaganda being posted all over the downtown. Mr. Scheffler 
explained that he wanted to bring up information about this group without necessarily using their name 
and  is happy  to email materials  about  this  group  to  council. He explained  that  this  group  is  a white 



 

2 
 

supremacist hate group. The core of their beliefs are racist, xenophobic, and anti‐Semitic in nature. They 
sell themselves as patriots and use garish patriotic imagery to disguise their fascist beliefs and they delight 
in the false mythology of American history. It's disturbing to be reading comments that they make and 
the effects of this group in the national discourse. Mr. Scheffler stated that he wanted to bring to council’s 
attention  that  this group  is actively  recruiting  in  St. Alban. He  reiterated  that he has  found 60 or  so 
instances of white nationalist or white supremacist hate group propaganda plastered all over the City, on 
anything  from  lampposts  to utility poles, public and private property. He stated  that we've seen hate 
crimes done by white nationalists across the country and implored council to take this matter seriously 
and  investigate  this  in  St.  Albans,  condemning  these  hate  crimes  and  these  instances  of  racist  or 
xenophobic  or  anti‐Semitic  hate  crimes.  The  nature  of  the  propaganda  includes  stickers  and  posters 
placed all over the City. They are hard to remove, they're long lasting, and it leaves a lasting mark on our 
downtown. Mr.  Scheffler explained  that  for  a while,  it was hard not  to walk  through  the downtown 
without being asked to join a neo‐Nazi group on the internet with the URL present on those stickers. He 
is hopeful that should anything occur or in the event of vandalism, that moments of healing and education 
would  come  together,  educating  our  citizens,  neighbors  and  friends  about  the  dangers  of  white 
supremacy. He reiterated that there is no place for this in St. Albans and encouraged council to take action. 
He  stated  that  he will  be  reporting  these  specific  instances  and will  email  council with  educational 
materials concerning this group.  

Mayor Smith thanked Mr. Scheffler and asked the public if they see any of this propaganda or vandalism 
to please take a photo, share it with the Police department or City Hall, identify its location and remove it 
if possible. He added that this will be addressed a little bit more in the agenda under the City Manager's 
report.  

Mr. McCarthy stated that as a matter of procedure, he will be assisting the Mayor with the zoom and 
watching for members of the public to “raise their hand” to speak. He stated that if you're not familiar 
with how to raise a hand in zoom, you would click on the icon at the bottom of the screen after opening 
the participants list  

Tanner McCuin  introduced himself. He stated that he has seen and experienced actual recruitment by 
these organizations. Without naming specific locations, he stated that it has taken place in the bar scene 
around St. Albans. Members of some of these groups are actively recruiting and do speak quite loudly at 
certain places and times. He explained that  it's not necessarily  just a vandalism  issue and  is something 
that should be taken serious by all accounts. In terms of the new communication format, he suggested 
that perhaps the comment section follow the presentations so that people who want to comment can 
actually respond to what is being presented.  Mayor Smith thanked Mr. McCuin for his comments.  

Reese Kelly, resident of St. Albans City, introduced himself. He thanked council and staff for keeping this 
in a hybrid format and stated that even without COVID,  it can be difficult to attend these meetings  in‐
person. This format makes it possible for more people to engage that might not be able to be in person. 
He is also appreciative of the public comment period throughout the meeting, so it feels more interactive 
throughout the process. In echoing Mr. Scheffler and Mr. McCuin’s sentiments, Mr. Kelly stated that white 
supremacists  don't  really  wear  white  hoods  anymore  and  what  he  hopes  to  convey  is  that  white 
supremacy looks really different now. He stated that if we're not cued into what it looks like, we don't 
actually realize how scary and threatening and damaging it is for our community and that a lot of it looks 
like this co‐optation of what we think  is really good, positive American patriotic symbolism. But  if you 
follow  the  URLs,  and  if  you  follow  the  links,  you'll  see  that  it's  actually  really  scary,  horrific white 
supremacy; like the KKK and Nazi Germany. Mr. Kelly stated that there really is a philosophy with a set of 
behaviors, values and recruiting that's behind it. He is hopeful that just because it looks really different, 



 

3 
 

that  we  start  to  build  an  awareness  of  how  people  are  actually  presenting  these  really  scary  and 
threatening values and behaviors now in contemporary society and that, it's really frightening going into 
a downtown where you see a lot of these stickers up everywhere. He stressed that while it may seem like 
a sticker and a backdrop to some, it is something that other people will notice and feel like this community 
is not a place where they can be safe. Mayor Smith thanked Mr. Kelly for his comments.  

4. Parks Commission letter and discussion. 
Ms. Sturm explained  that  the  commission  spent a  couple months working on  the  letter presented  to 
council. The Parks Commission is requesting some clarification on the role of the commission and would 
like some input from the council as to how best to define their work. They are requesting some guidance 
as to whether the City has some projects to hand to the commission or if the council would like to hear 
about the projects the commission is working on. They would also like to work on a budget and provided 
the example of one municipal trash can which can cost $1000. Ms. Sturm stated that the letter is clear 
about the need for a Parks budget, redefining our charter in a way that clearly defines our authority, and 
to have a dedicated City staff person that the Parks Commission can go to so there  is a clear chain of 
command. She explained that right now, the commission doesn’t know what that chain of command looks 
like or whether there are certain subjects and projects that go to one area of the city, or another kind that 
goes to another professional.  

Mayor Smith stated that the council has already discussed that they will be inviting a representative 
from each City board and commission to present to the Council twice a year in order to open those lines 
of communication. Mayor Smith stated that the Council is always open to commission members’ emails 
as well. He expressed great appreciation for the work of the commission and noted some great 
successes including the edible garden and their work on the Master Plan. He cautioned that the budget 
will be tight over the next couple of years.  
 
Mr. Cloud stated that one of his takeaways in reading the letter is that the board could use some advice 
and direction in how to access information and how to move things through the process. To that end, on 
the way up, everything has to go through the City Council which is the chief legislative body. There is no 
money until it’s presented to council and approved by the voters. Once that happens, it runs through 
department heads and the budget is planned. He stressed that the budget is a plan, not a contract. 
There have been years when staff planned to buy a truck or a trash can and managing the budget turned 
out differently than the plan with some of those expenditures being defrayed to future years. Mr. Cloud 
stated that the problem is, there hasn’t been a whole lot budgeted for the parks but if the commission 
has an idea, like a proposal for trash cans, the fall budget season is approaching. He noted that that’s 
the place where the commission can put on their advocacy hat and is the commission’s job to follow 
through the process and present the idea for a citywide inventory on trash cans with a plan and budget 
request. A representative can then show up at a budget hearing. Mr. Cloud stated that Andrew is the 
staff person that provides support, similar to the role that he provides to the City Council. The advocacy 
is up to the Commission itself. Mr. Cloud stated that Andrew will continue to be the staff liaison and can 
connect with Kelly as well but if there are specific questions about something, he would be the best 
resource. He added that Mr. Manahan is the Director of Operations and can also assist. Over the last 2 
or 3 years, the City has been consumed with some really large infrastructure and public improvement 
projects and when that happens, council tends to focus on those projects and loses sight of smaller 
projects like trash cans.  
 
Jamie Pinkham, Parks Commission member, stated  that  from a planning perspective,  this has brought 
some clarity that they can use moving forward. Mr. Gratton stated that he also went back and read the 



 

4 
 

charter that the City Council assigned to the Parks Commission when the commission was first proposed. 
He reiterated that there’s a lot going on in the City and it will be nice for the council to hear some of the 
things that the commission proposes and work our way out the door from there on getting the funding 
for those projects, if approved by the Council.  

Mayor Smith stated that in looking at the list of proposed projects, he thinks they are great projects and 
it would be nice to have them collaborate with wood working at the school for projects such as the little 
free libraries and can help use some other resources such as grants in addition to the budget. He stated 
that staff can help make some contacts and get those conversations started which can prove to be 
valuable moving forward. Mayor Smith asked Ms. McGinn if she had any input.  
 
Mr. Pelkey noted that there was a portion of the letter where the commission was also hoping for better 
communication from other organizations who are using the park so they can anticipate things that will 
be going into the park. Ms. Pinkham explained that one example was the power boxes being painted 
which was discussed at the commission level. Then they noticed the boxes were painted before 
conveying that message to staff which is great, but would be helpful to know what’s being planned. 
Mayor Smith recapped that what he’s hearing is the need for better communication which can be 
executed through bi‐annual check‐ins with council and communication through the City Manager or 
individual councilors.  
 
Ms. Sturm asked if the commission could come to every City Council meeting to provide and update. 
Mayor Smith suggested for the purpose of time, a written update could be included in the council’s 
report. Mr. McCarthy stated that he is happy to have conversations offline with the commission. He 
stated that while we may not want to have an agenda item where we do a report all the time, if there's 
a specific concern, or something that's not moving, he welcomes offline conversations so that council 
can be more responsive. He commented that before reading the Parks Commission’s letter, he wasn't 
aware that there was a feeling from commission that council wasn’t being responsive and was actually a 
little shocked to hear that. He encouraged the commission to keep the line of communication open to 
the council because they have so many different things going on such as large scale real estate projects. 
Ms. Sturm stated that she believes they would have something to share every month and sometimes 
feels they are left not knowing if they are asking the right questions or on the right topics. She had 
wondered if the City had created the commission because they want help from the commission or if the 
purpose was for the City to bring items to them when they have issues they want the commission to 
address. Ms. Sturm recapped that what she’s understanding from this conversation is that council does 
want to hear from the commission but will need to do so in an organized fashion. Mr. Cloud stated that 
projects can be funded such as trash cans, new sidewalks, tennis courts and fountain restoration, for 
example, but a blanket line item cannot be funded. He stated that it’s the commission’s job to put the 
vision together and bring that proposal to council.  
 
Mr. Pelkey stated that if the commission feels they need to speak to council more than twice a year, he 
would suggest they reach out to the Mayor to be put on the agenda more frequently. Ms. Sturm 
responded that they have been very careful about what they’ve brought forward because they want 
council to be sure they know the commission is really committed to public safety, to the maintenance of 
the parks as they are and to the vision of the parks going forward.  Ms. Sturm stated that she received a 
message from Ms. McGinn who wanted to add that the commission is hesitant to initiate anything in 
Taylor Park or even respond favorably to residents who want to do special things in the park because 
they don’t have a clear idea of the master plan timeline and would like some guidance. Mr. McCarthy 



 

5 
 

stated that he thinks some of the line of communication got lost between council and the Parks 
Commission and is hopeful that an open channel of communication can be renewed.  
 
Ms. Laddison commented that she believes this is something we should think about for all of the boards 
and  commissions  and  doesn’t  believe  they  are  alone  in  not  always  understanding  how  the  chain  of 
command and communication works. When board changes happen, it’s really natural to not know what 
this process looks like. She added that it was new to her as a counselor and is still learning. She would like 
to look into a training or a document that new board members access when they first join. This board has 
brought forward a great issue that council should solve for all the boards.  

Mr. McCarthy asked if VLCT might be a good resource for some training material. Mr. Cloud responded 
that there are some but it would be more beneficial to bring the League to the City and do a workshop 
on it.  
 

5. Consider extra‐territorial allocation for R.L. Vallee, 555 Fairfax Rd. (D&V). 
Mayor Smith asked if anyone from R.L. Vallee was present. Without a representative present, he stated 
that the request is for allocation to support 10,000 square feet of additional retail business in the 
building.  

 
A motion was made by Alderwoman Laddison; seconded by Alderman McCarthy to approve extra‐
territorial allocation for R.L. Vallee, 555 Fairfax Road. Vote was unanimous, 5‐0.  
 

6. Presentation by Brendan Deso, Selectboard Chair.  
Mayor Smith introduced Town Selectboard Chair, Brendan Deso. Mr. Deso stated that it has been a 
pleasure to get to know and work with the City Council and proceeded to read aloud a statement. (See 
Attached Brendan Deso Statement).  
 
Mayor Smith thanked Mr. Deso and stated that regionalism is becoming more of an important aspect of 
economic development. He believes the outreach that Mr. Deso spoke about is very visionary and 
thanked him for sharing. He asked Mr. Deso to share his statement so he can forward a copy with 
council.  
 
Mr. Kelly stated that if a business task force is considered, he hopes that not only the largest employers 
in the region will be looked at but also small business owners, women owned businesses and minority 
owned. Mr. Deso agreed with Mr. Kelly’s sentiments.   
 

7. Aldis Hill water tower storage project update, Wayne Elliott.  
Mayor Smith introduced Wayne Elliott of Aldrich & Elliott. Mr. Elliott proceeded to present the attached 
memo on the Aldis Hill Water Tower Storage Project update. (See Attached Wayne Elliott Memo).  

Mr. McCarthy asked Mr. Cloud  if he recalled  the  funding status with  the annualized cost  for  the debt 
service on the revolving loan pay back? Mr. Cloud responded that he didn’t off the top of his head. He 
stated that the bond vote is for $3.5 million and if the voters pass it, The City gets a million bucks free and 
would service a debt of $2.5 million. Mr. Elliott stated that for phase one, the debt service on $1.2 million 
is about $55,000 per year. The interest rate could vary on that a little bit. It's a maximum 3% and he used 
2%. Mr. Elliott stated that the City could even qualify for something better than that based on your current 
water rates and median household income, but it's in that range.  



 

6 
 

Mayor Smith asked Mr. Elliott  if there’s enough  land. Mr. Elliott responded that there would be some 
additional land needs and are close to defining that. He further stated that they are also working on access 
and will need some staging areas. Mr. Cloud added that staff  is optimistic that its partnership with the 
Aldis  Hill  Trust will  be  a  strategic  relationship. Mayor  Smith  asked Mr.  Elliott  to  speak  on  the  fire 
prevention and protection aspect. Mr. Elliott  responded  that  the  two main components are  flow and 
pressure. If there’s a significant fire in the City, it's mostly going to come out of that tank, because you 
can't push enough water in from either side. It was never designed to do that to really supply the majority 
of  the  fire  flow protection.  It also  really helps  to maintain and  stabilize  the pressures  in  the  system, 
primarily  the hospital. He  explained  that  it's not  just  the  volume  issue  from  a  fire  flow,  it's  also  the 
pressure. The City tries to take as much water from the Fairfax side because it’s all gravity fed and flows 
downhill to the water treatment plan but that isn't necessarily enough to maintain the pressures in the 
system.  

Mayor Smith acknowledged several runoffs over the summer that caused an overflow at the wastewater 
plant. He asked why this would be a priority over addressing that? Mr. Elliott responded that you’re really 
talking about the CSOs, which are water quality issue by one group at the State versus the drinking water 
side which is still a health and safety issue. If you're looking at the water side of things he stated that his 
concern is that there isn’t redundancy there. The State has identified the lack of storage there to begin 
with. He added that it’s pretty uncommon for a water system of this size, not to have some backup there. 
If the City tries to prolong the tank another three or four years, and there continues to be issues with that 
existing tank, taking that tank offline really puts the City at risk for fire protection and operation facilities 
at  the hospital. He  recalled  that  the City has made a major  investment  in  the  last  few years with  the 
treatment plant, and is running very well. In addition, the amount of phosphorus coming out of that has 
been reduced significantly from what it used to be, which will ultimately help the bay and the water quality 
of the lake. Mr. Elliott reiterated that the tank was built back in the 50’s and is way past its useful life. 
Without some reinvestment the City will end up needing to build two new tanks instead of one. He stated 
that there are multiple competing interests, unfortunately, and many of the older Vermont communities 
are facing the same problem.  

Mayor Smith asked Mr. Cloud what the next steps are. Mr. Cloud responded that this is round one and 
Mr. Elliott will be back with more information. The purpose of tonight’s meeting is for an introduction to 
the public and council and will be back with more information and a proposed plan.  

Alderman Spooner joined the meeting.  
 

8. Updated on efforts to join a captive insurance pool for delivering health insurance, T. Leitz & Sally 
McKenzie, Hickok and Boardman.  
Mr. Leitz explained that for a long time, the City had a consulting agreement with at one point the League 
of Cities and Towns and Hickok and Boardman. Going back six or seven years, the City converted from a 
premium based health care plan to the current model with a high deductible, where the employee pays 
the first portion and the City takes on that risk. Mr. Leitz stated that that proved to be a real home run. 
Every year,  staff  looks at  the City’s expenditures and what  is  spent on  the deductibles and  the City's 
portion. Mr. Leitz explained that the majority of the City  is in a low risk group. We have a lot of young 
employees who just don't use their health care. Mr. Leitz stated that 18 months ago, he was introduced 
to Captive Insurance for the first time. It's a great way to join this workgroup of similar sized employees 
who are also similarly situated and to take advantage of that lower risk. So instead of paying these monthly 
premiums to MVP, or Blue Cross Blue Shield, the City would be paying its claims directly and through some 
insurance products, managing our bigger risks for the huge claims. Mr. Leitz stated that the captive model 
immediately sounded really appealing and originally assumed that the City would have to capitalize it on 



 

7 
 

day one which turned out to be a misconception. There's a pretty small investment that would be required 
which makes this even more appealing.  

Mr.  Leitz  explained  that  the  rate  increases  for  next  year,  are  just  now  coming  out.  There's  no  legal 
obligation  to stay  in a Captive and doesn’t require a  five year contract but at  the same  time,  there  is 
additional risk. Mr. Leitz stated that he sees this as a minimum of three to five year decision so from a 
staff perspective, we're not 100% there yet but are really close with January 1st right around the corner. 
Mr. Leitz added that the City also has flexibility  in the union contracts where  it can change healthcare 
plans, provided  the  coverage  is  similar  and  in  this  instance,  the  coverage  can be  identical. Mr.  Leitz 
proceeded to introduce Sally McKenzie of Hickok and Boardman.   

 Ms. McKenzie recapped that what Mr. Leitz presented is the underlying funding of the City’s health plan. 
She explained that there’s fully insured plans, self‐insured plans, in which you take on all the risk, or you 
have captive funding, which is a combination of both. With the Captive plan, the City would not take on 
risk for  its high cost claims that exceed $250,000 but anything  in between would be shared with other 
small employers. She explained that in essence, the City would be making a capital investment to fund 
this pool which would be drawn from to pay out claims. When the City doesn’t have any claims, however, 
it would share he surplus of that pool with a potential return of those dollars that that the City’s invested. 
Currently, the City is paying a fully insured premium to MVP and not seeing any return.  

Ms. McKenzie pointed out that Mr. Leitz has a good idea of the City’s demographics but aren’t getting any 
valuation aggregate data of that population and how healthcare health claim dollar are being spent. Under 
the Captive plan, you're able to see some utilization with aggregate information which is very beneficial 
to a City who is planning long term for healthcare. She explained that Mr. Leitz touched upon the fact that 
the City has an administrator that pays its claims and ID cards are held in the pocket of the employees and 
their dependents. No one is denied health care coverage, employees can see their providers, and enjoy 
the benefits of the plan that the City currently sponsors. From a planning perspective, staff waits every 
year, and holds their breath when the insurers get their rate increases. There’s no ability to manage it or 
see what occurs in real time. In the Captive plan, there is access to real time data which will help staff stay 
abreast of all these trends, positive or negative. She added that the Captive is a large group so it has, in 
essence, a governing body.  

Mayor  Smith  asked  how  many  employees  the  City  has.  Mr.  Leitz  responded  that  the  City  has 
approximately 65 full time employees but if the City hits 100 employees, it would have a higher premium 
than the mid‐sized group we’re in now. He added that Restorative Justice has grown and the Captive Plan 
would take away any risk if the number of full time employees grows. Mayor Smith asked Ms. McKenzie 
if  there  are  any  concerns with preexisting  conditions. Ms. McKenzie  responded negatively. Mr.  Leitz 
further  explained  that  the  biggest  expense  for  the  City would  include  stop  loss  coverage.  Once  an 
individual reaches $30,000, the insurance would kick in and then a second policy would cover catastrophic 
claims exceeding $250,000. The stop loss coverage is roughly one third of the cost of the entire plan for 
the year. Mayor Smith noted the handout which shows a percentage of what the City might save with this 
plan. Mr. Leitz stated that the estimated savings is well into the six figure range and could be a key player 
in next year’s budget strategy.  

Mr. McCarthy asked if there were any precedents for other municipalities engaging in the Captive plan. 
Mr. Leitz responded affirmatively and explained that years ago, there was a self‐insurance pool offered 
through the League. Mr. Cloud stated that it’s essentially recreating the Health Trust. Ms. McKenzie stated 
that the Health Trust dates back to 2010 and was self‐insured at that time. Because the Trust was self‐
insured, the League was at risk for every claim dollar and could not sustain that which is why the Trust 



 

8 
 

was eventually dissolved. She stated that this is a combination of many groups joining this Captive pool. 
The difference with  the Captive plan  is  that  the City would  share  the  risk with  likeminded employers 
whereas with the Health Trust, VLCT was the only employer self‐funding their plan.  

Mr. Spooner asked if there would be any impact to the employees under this new plan and asked if they 
would lose access to their current doctors. Mr. Leitz responded negatively and explained that this would 
be  the vehicle underneath  the  funding  side and not change  the application or mechanics of how  the 
employee would access their healthcare. Mr. Spooner asked if the City will be able to pick and choose its 
own plan design. Mr. Leitz  responded affirmatively and explained  that under  this model,  the City can 
participate in health programs and automatically get a deduction for doing so. Mr. Leitz stated that he can 
come back before council next month with some firmer numbers. Mayor Smith thanked Ms. McKenzie for 
attending.  

9. Consider adoption of Police Department policy on internal affairs, City Manager & Interim Chief 
Lamothe (D&V).  
Mayor Smith introduced Interim Chief Lamothe. Chief Lamothe read aloud the purpose of the policy on 
internal affairs and proceeded to present the policy. (See Attached Policy on Internal Affairs).  

Mayor  Smith  thanked Chief  Lamothe  and opened  the  floor  for questions. Mr. McCarthy  asked Chief 
Lamothe what  the main  differences  are  between  this  policy  and  how  things were  done  prior.  Chief 
Lamothe  responded  that  there wasn’t  a whole  lot of difference but  the  section  about  complaints of 
discrimination or bias was not included. There also wasn’t any language about notifying the complainant 
or keeping  them  informed. Mr. Cloud added  that  the assumption  in  the past was  that  the police was 
investigating themselves and was one of the areas where the department failed to  inspire confidence. 
The former policy didn’t have any thresholds embedded within it about when you can investigate yourself 
and when it needs to be handed off. This policy formalizes that, and provides a much higher degree of 
customer  service  to  the  complainant. He added  that  it also adds an annual  reporting element which 
recognizes the role of the Advisory Board to look at how many complaints have come in over the year.  

Ms. Laddison asked when this  information would be part of the publicly available data. Chief Lamothe 
responded  that he will be able  to  share what was  substantial and what was not as well as what was 
classified as minor or more serious. He explained that in most cases, you’ll find that the complaints that 
do come in will fall into the category as they were initially presented but some could start as minor and 
turn more serious.  

Mayor Smith asked how  these complaints will be received. Chief Lamothe responded  that people can 
come into the department to fill out a form or email them but would prefer to receive them in person.   

Mr. Spooner asked how someone could make an anonymous complaint. Chief Lamothe responded that 
they can call in or file a written complaint and not provide their name. Mr. Spooner asked Chief Lamothe 
how  they would  follow  up with  the  complainant  if  they  didn’t  provide  their  name.  Chief  Lamothe 
responded  that unfortunately  that’s  the downfall and wouldn’t be able  to provide any  follow up. Mr. 
Cloud stated that the disposition of the complaint, though, is public record.  

Ms. Laddison asked when it would become public. Mr. Cloud responded that it would become public when 
the investigation is complete. Ms. Laddison stated that her question is more around the transparency of 
the data and an annual report on it and feels like a long time to wait to look at the data. Chief Lamothe 
responded that it can be discussed on a monthly basis. Mr. Cloud noted page 8 which states that the Chief 
of police shall notify the complainant and the subject employee within five days of the conclusion of the 
investigation. He asked Ms. Laddison if she is looking for more than an update, but also published? Ms. 



 

9 
 

Laddison responded that she’s not sure exactly what she’s asking for but just exploring this and would like 
the ability  to analyze  trends and not  just  individual complaints. Chief Lamothe responded  that he can 
provide all of that information on a working spreadsheet.  

Mr. Spooner asked if all of the officers wear body cameras. Chief Lamothe responded affirmatively. Mr. 
Spooner asked how long that data is kept. Chief Lamothe responded that it’s kept in the cloud and in the 
process of buying more  storage. He  stated  that  the  storage  runs about $35,000 a year currently. Mr. 
Spooner asked what would happen  in  the scenario where an officer gives  false  information during an 
investigation and either the camera footage or witness information contradicts the officer. Chief Lamothe 
responded  that  in  the State of Vermont,  if you're caught  fabricating or  lying, your career  is done. Mr. 
Spooner asked if there a process for officers policing other officers or a way for an officer to make a formal 
complaint against another officer? Mr. Cloud responded that he believes they would use this complaint 
form or make it directly with the Chief or Lieutenant. Chief Lamothe agreed.  

Ms. Laddison commented that she was pleased to see the piece about making sure that the complainant 
understands the form and asked if any more thought was given about language barriers? Chief Lamothe 
responded that they have an interpreter service that they use.  

Mayor Smith opened the floor to public comment. Mr. Kelly stated that he has a bunch of comments and 
will put it in the context that as part of his paid professional role, he actually investigates and coordinates 
the investigations in response to complaints of discrimination, harassment and bias. He commented that 
this  is something that he’s knee deep  in on a day to day basis, and very  familiar with the process. He 
acknowledged  that  we  have  to  ensure  that  we  are  creating  services  that  are  free  from  unlawful 
discrimination and bias and thinks that was really great to have that within the purpose. One of the things 
that he’s learned in doing this work is that you really need to use language that complainants are attracted 
to and understand, that they will be taken seriously and their complaint will be taken seriously. He further 
stated that one of the things that he believes is important in doing that is using language that shows what 
you don't tolerate within your workforce. He understands that the document listed the protected classes 
of  race and nationality and  sex, but  stated  that  it  can be  taken a  step  further because  it  really  is an 
organizational statement of saying that we're not going to tolerate discrimination and bias. You can add 
things  like sexual orientation, citizenship status and ethnicity and would encourage staff  to do so. He 
reasoned  that  the more  you  name  the more  people will  see  that  you  actually  don't  tolerate  those 
behaviors. He  also believes  it's  important  to note  in  the document  that  you  can  arrange  translation 
services and provide accommodations  for people with disabilities, again,  to  show  that  this process  is 
something that they can actually engage in. He also noted title two of the Civil Rights Act, and Section 504 
of the 1973 Rehabilitation Act, which looks at disabilities as they use language of disability, not handicap. 
He would  recommend shifting  from handicap status  to disabilities. Something  that he also believes  is 
really important to include is what the procedure is, if the complaint is actually about the Police Chief. He 
also suggested that there be potentially other locations where someone can report that's not to a police 
officer or within the police department. There is a lot of fear, particularly by people who have experienced 
bias, harassment or discrimination that's compounded with things like excessive use of force and will not 
actually come to a police officer or walk into a police station. He recommended alternatives such as the 
Restorative Justice Center or to City Council. It would also be helpful to know if someone has the right to 
an advocate to be able to come with them. He also suggested that it be embedded in the policy that all 
individuals also have the right to report to the US Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division. He noted 
the qualified  independent  investigator and highly suggested giving the complainant the opportunity to 
appeal the department’s selection of the investigator on the basis of very specific things such as on the 
basis of conflict of  interest or on the basis of bias. He commented that  if you don't give someone the 
opportunity to appeal, then you're not actually making room for someone to engage in this process. He 



 

10 
 

also suggested that anti‐retaliation language be explicit in the policy to protect individuals from retaliation 
for coming forward. He noted that the definition of bias or discrimination is nowhere to be found in this 
policy and also suggested giving the right of the complainant to appeal the decision of the investigation. 
He suggested providing a timeline and instructions for whom a complainant can appeal to and on what 
basis. Lastly, he suggested the removal of the word, “compliments” in the first sentence.  

Mayor Smith thanked Mr. Kelly for his input and asked him if he would be willing to include those points 
in an email to the City Manager. Mr. Kelly responded affirmatively.  Mr. Cloud asked Mr. Kelly if he works 
directly with the NAACP. Mr. Kelly responded negatively.  

Ms. Pinkham commented that she thought this policy was really well written. She stated that with her 
background, she manages the same process, both internal and external investigations at the hospital. She 
agreed with a lot of the points raised by Mr. Kelly and to Ms. Laddison’s point earlier, believes that having 
data available at least quarterly would be a good timeframe.  She stated that the biggest thing she has 
found in dealing with both public and internal concerns or complaints are that most people just want you 
to listen. She asked if any of the officers have had any specific training to do this work.  Chief Lamothe 
responded that they will be getting the Lieutenants trained first and is hopeful to get all of the officers 
some  level of  training. She recalled Mr. Spooner’s comments about complaints being anonymous and 
noted  that  there  is  software  available  that  can  help manage  that with  a  third  party who  takes  the 
anonymous complaint. She agreed that tracking both minor and significant complaints is super important 
but asked if subcategories have been considered to really help hone in on the issues. She stated that at 
the hospital, they use  those categories to help guide their  training and  follow up and can help decide 
where you want to focus your dollars and energy.  

Mayor Smith thanked everyone for their input. He explained that staff will take the information received, 
make changes and bring this back for consideration at the October meeting. He thanked Chief Lamothe 
for his work he put into developing the policy.  

A motion was made by Alderman Spooner; seconded by Alderman McCarthy to table the Police 
Department policy on internal affairs. Vote was unanimous, 6‐0.  
 

10. City Manager Report. 
 
a. Explanation of public records request 

Mr. Cloud stated that after the Seven Days article, staff has received a lot of questions in reaction 
to the assertion that we omitted the arrest from a record response last year. He stated that it's far 
from that simple and certainly didn't omit the arrest from a records response. Mr. Cloud explained 
that the City was caught between two competing sections of Vermont law. There's the public 
record statute, which has a very, very low bar for releasing records and a very, very high bar for 
keeping them retained. There’s also the laws that protect juveniles. In this case, the person 
involved was a juvenile and the law states that law enforcement reports and files concerning a 
person subject to the jurisdiction, the family division shall be maintained separate from the records 
and files of other persons, such records and files shall not be open to public inspection nor their 
contents disclosed to the public by any person. It goes on to specify in instances where a court 
issues an order to seal records, the statutory reply should be that no record exists. So given that as 
a foundational backdrop, staff wasn’t in any position to release anything to Seven Days upon their 
request. The City was very forthright about what the issues were. Seven Days pushed it and said 
they were not looking for records that would identify or encroach upon the right of the minor, but 
wanted to understand the officers’ actions. Staff then spent some time reviewing and figuring out 



 

11 
 

what could be released after redacting information on the minor.  Staff then called the State's 
Attorney and eventually got consensus to release that information as well as video footage. The 
City hired channel 15 to blur out the video of the minors involved. Mr. Cloud further explained that 
the problem still existed that there wasn't any public action on the civil side that creates a record 
until there's a settlement, and everything up to that point was still on the criminal side. Once there 
was a settlement on the civil side, staff released the information to Seven Days and set up a time 
for the reporter to come up and view the video. He commented that the phrase that the City 
omitted it from the arrest goes about goes about two inches deep on a 12 inch deep topic and the 
City did everything it could to make the records available.  
 

b. Update on racial equity training for staff and boards 
Staff  is  working  with  the  Restorative  Justice  Center  to  help  us  figure  out  what's  the  best  fit 
programmatically and financially to provide implicit bias training for all of the City staff and Boards. 
Staff  is speaking with several resources  in addition  to  the Racial Equity  Institute.   Topics covered 
include an analysis of structural racism, understanding and controlling implicit bias, race, poverty and 
powerbrokers and the  importance of definitions of race and racism, and the history and  legacy of 
race  and  American  Economic  and  Policy  Development.  Finally,  there's  some  programs  being 
developed by the National League of Cities, and staff is exploring those as well. Mayor Smith added 
that he also reached out to Susana Davis but to date, has not heard back.  

Mr. Spooner commented that  it be recorded and open to the public. Mr. Cloud stated that there 
seems to be a lot of external advocacy that focus on City Boards and Commissions, as community 
leaders, policymakers and people in positions of power. There's also external advocacy that we need 
larger structural and institutional change for St. Albans at large.  

c. Update on efforts to address anti‐Semitic stickers and flyers 
Mr. Cloud stated that a group has been assembled, that's working to respond to the hate speech 
found around the City. There's been some investigation by the FBI and others to evaluate the 
threat and right now the indications are this is more of a warfare idea than it is an emerging public 
safety threat. Staff is working to try to find some messaging that can be part of a campaign that 
competes within the realm of ideas that reflect the community's values where there's synergy 
between the racial equity and social justice discussion.  

 
d. Update on Congress and Main and renovation of old CCV building 

Mr.  Cloud  stated  that  Congress  and Main  is moving  along well.  Staff  anticipates  the  affordable 
housing development  to begin  filling  those units back up  in November. That's when CCV also  is 
anticipated to move out of their existing building. The City intends to begin its renovations towards 
the  end  of  the  year,  perhaps  early  in  2021.  Staff  went  through  a  solicitation  for  construction 
management  firms and  received  five bidders.   Green Dolphin was  the  low bidder and has been 
selected.  

Mayor Smith asked if staff is phasing the development of the old CCV building. Mr. Cloud responded 
that staff hasn’t made decisions to move significantly away from what was designed. Once there is a 
construction manager that exercise will begin.  

e. Update on Police Chief search 
Mr. Cloud explained that staff anticipates  launching the search for a Police Chief  later this month 
with job descriptions and job posting and anticipates having a selection emerge by the end of the 



 

12 
 

year. There will be  lots of opportunities  for  folks  to weigh  in and participate and have  that be a 
community based selection.  

11. Municipal Planning Grant Resolution, Chip Sawyer (D&V).  
Mr. Sawyer explained that for a long time the Planning Commission has been interested in in modernizing 
the  residential  districts  the  way  they're  written  in  the  regulations.  One  is  called  the  High  Density 
Residential district and the other is the Low Density Residential district and the types of neighborhoods 
that exist are more diverse than that. He explained that sometimes it’s hard to make sense of the rules 
that exist versus the neighborhoods that have been there for a  long time through history and why the 
rules we have today might differ from what we see on the ground.  By modernization, he explained that 
he’s talking about ground truthing; looking at existing conditions and thinking about what we want our 
desired outcomes to be for our neighborhoods. Also, engaging in the conversation about where can we 
increase housing densities in the City based on the regulations and where can we allow for perhaps more 
dwelling units in areas of the City than what the regulations today might allow.  

Mr. Sawyer stated that we have the expertise necessary to make these changes both on the Planning 
Commission and with staff. What  is  lacking  is comprehensive data, where staff could use GIS to create 
maps and tables for the entire City, figure out what kinds of neighborhoods are contiguous to each other, 
share the same sort of character, density, setbacks, etc. Right now  in the State, there's a conversation 
about doing  cookie  cutter version across  the board but  it doesn't allow  for a  local  solution based on 
community context. Mr. Sawyer explained that staff is applying for this municipal planning grant which 
would assist with the GIS tool, loading in all the data and getting some consultation on how to use it. The 
maximum award would be $22,000.  

Mayor Smith asked if it’s correct that the grant would pay for a consulting service to develop the software 
and asked if there isn’t already an off the shelf product that would be the same? Mr. Sawyer responded 
that  staff  is  looking  at  a  free GIS  software  called QGIS, which  they  use  today.  Staff would need  the 
consultant to help them become super users of this software, help staff and members of the Planning 
Commission and others learn not only how to use it, but also how to update it with new data as it becomes 
available.  

Mr. McCarthy noted the conversation at the State level around this topic and stated that there are people 
who really want to make sure housing density is increased. He stated that he believes we have all have 
been part of the conversation around making sure that there is more housing stock and how that can be 
done in a way that provides more opportunity for equity, but also maintains the character of some of our 
neighborhoods. He stated that he shares the view of many of the other Franklin County legislators and 
legislators from across the State that don't want the State to tell them you must have X housing density 
and you will do  it  in X, Y and Z ways. He stated  that  it’s going  to be  tragic  if  that makes  it out of  the 
committee this week and doesn’t think it will come out the way it is in its current form. He agreed that 
this is a great for the City to have this data and formulate a plan. He expressed his appreciation for Mr. 
Sawyer’s advocacy and the way that he has helped the comments from the Planning Commission be heard 
in Montpelier.  

A motion was made by Alderman McCarthy; seconded by Alderman Spooner to approve municipal 
planning grant. Vote was unanimous, 6‐0.  
 
Mayor Smith thanked Mr. Sawyer and Northwest Access for their work making the meeting work 
remotely.  
 



 

13 
 

12. Update on sidewalks and paving projects, Marty Manahan.  
Mr. Manahan presented the following list of streets which will be completed this season.  

Paving: 

 Upper Gilman Street 
 Lower Welden Street 
 Russell Street 
 Pearl Street 
 North Elm Street 
 Sunset Meadows 
 Brainerd Street 
 Lincoln Avenue 
 Ferris Street 

Sidewalks/Curbing: 

 Brainerd Street 
 Ferris Street 
 Rugg Street 
 Beverly Court 
 Burnell Terrace 

Mr. Manahan thanked Erik Johnson for his help in communicating updates to his neighbors.  

13. Mayor’s Report 
Mayor Smith thanked Mr. Mulheron for his work at the Cadillac recently. He also thanked Chief Lamothe 
because he received an email from DCF commending the department’s work on a couple of recent 
cases. He also thanked Erik Johnson and Donna Howard for all their work on the Mayor’s Photo Contest.  
 

14. Councilor Reports. 
Ms. Laddison asked for a status on After Glow. Mr. Cloud responded that After Glow has been cancelled 
at the decision of the organizer.  
 
Mr. McCarthy stated that the paving on Stevens Avenue looks great. He added that the Public Works 
crew helped his daughter cross the street on her first day of school and appreciated the culture.  
 
Ms. Bessette complimented how beautiful the City looks with the flowers.  
 
Mr. Pelkey stated that he is very impressed with staff and community leaders. 
 

15. Consider approval of regular meeting minutes: 8/10/20 (D&V). 
A motion was made by Alderman McCarthy; seconded by Alderman Spooner to approve 8/10/20 
regular meeting minutes with correction to the second paragraph of page 6. Vote was unanimous, 6‐0. 

16. Consider approval of warrant: 8/31/20 (D&V). 
A motion was made by Alderman McCarthy; seconded by Alderman Spooner to approve 8/31/20 
warrant. Vote was unanimous, 6‐0.  



 

14 
 

17. Adjourn 
A motion was made by Alderman Spooner; seconded by Alderman Spooner to adjourn meeting at 
9:36 pm.  
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Kristen Smith 

Community Relations Coordinator 

 



Mayor   Smith,   Alderpersons   Hawkins,   Pelkey,   Bessette,   McCarthy,   Laddison   and  
Spooner,   City   Manager   Cloud,   distinguished   guests   and   fellow   citizens   of   St.   Albans   -  
Thank   you   for   allowing   me   to   be   here   before   you   this   evening.    It   has   been   a   sincere  
pleasure   getting   to   know   each   of   you   and   to   be   able   to   work   with   you   directly,   and   not  
through   an   attorney.   
 
This   group   here   tonight,   along   with   the   four   good   folks   I   count   myself   fortunate   to   be  
able   to   call   my   colleagues   on   the   Selectboard   all   understand   that   St.   Albans   is   stronger  
when   its   two   municipalities   are   cooperating,   and   are   willing   to   sit   at   the   same   table   to  
discuss   and   solve   our   shared   challenges.   
 
We’ve   all   proven   that   we   can   work   to   move   beyond   the   struggles,   battles   and  
animosities   of   yesterday   with   real   purpose,   and   always   with   an   eye   on   the   promise   of  
tomorrow.    We’ve   reignited   a   spirit   of   cooperation.    The   fact   that   I’m   able   to   be   here  
before   you   tonight   is   proof   of   that.   
 
As   a   Trustee   of   the   St.   Albans   Museum,   I   take   great   pleasure   in   being   reminded   every  
time   I   walk   into   our   beautiful   museum   that   our   community   has   a   sincere   and  
generational   ability   to   adapt   to   changing   times.    We’ve   been   the   Butter   Capital   of   the  
World.    Then   we   became   the   Rail   City,   with   railyard   and   rail   related   manufacturing   jobs  
for   most   of   our   citizens   who   were   not   themselves   destined   for   the   tradition   of   agricultural  
excellency   we   proudly   continue   to   boast   to   this   day.    Today,   we   have   food,   clothing,  
pharmaceutical   and   governmental   employment   giants   right   here   in   our   community.   
 
Today,   our   community   and   our   region   is   at   a   crossroads.    The   conditions   for   economic  
success   have   changed.    Regional   markets   of   finance,   commodities,   real   estate   and  
employment   are   all   turned   on   their   heads   because   of   this   pandemic.    As   local   leaders,  
we   need   to   begin   to   ask   ourselves   the   following   questions:  
 
As   people   turn   to   working   remotely,   how   will   this   change   impact   our   communities,   how  
we   provide   our   neighbors   the   services   they   expect,   and   could   this   trend   have   negative  
consequences   for   our   grand   lists?   
 
Will   new   age   technology,   like   artificial   intelligence,   have   positive   or   negative  
consequences   for   our   communities?    Are   we   doing   everything   in   our   power   to   make  
sure   our   municipalities   are   preparing   for   both   the   good   and   the   bad   to   come?  
  
How   will   we   work   together   with   our   school   district   to   make   sure   we’re   building   a  
workforce   to   meet   the   needs   of   current   employers   and   the   employers   of   tomorrow?  



 
In   addition   to   these   new   age   questions,   we   have   challenges   of   today   that   still   need   a  
robust   response   that   has   not   yet   been   delivered.    Will   we   ever   reach   our   full   potential   as  
a   tourism   and   recreation   hub   if   we   do   not   fully   address   the   terrible   quality   of   our   water   in  
Lake   Champlain?    Will   we   ever   reduce   the   taxpayer’s   burden   and   effectively   lower   the  
high   cost   of   housing   if   we   do   not   get   out   of   our   own   way   and   begin   difficult   discussions  
on   the   regionalization   of   municipally   provided   services?    Will   we   ever   realize   our  
potential   as   a   county   if   we   never   abandon   the   psychological   mindset   of   “us   vs   them”  
when   it   comes   to   how   we   interact   with   our   municipal   neighbors?   
 
As   a   resident   of   our   community   and   as   a   local   leader,   I   believe   to   my   core   that   if  
something   good   happens   within   the   Towns   of   Swanton,   Georgia,   Fairfax,   Fletcher,  
Fairfield,   Franklin,   Bakersfield,   Berkshire,   Enosburgh,   Sheldon,   Highgate,   Richford   or  
Montgomery,   that   that   happening   is   good   for   all   of   us   and   all   of   our   communities.   
 
If   we   and   our   municipal   neighbors   make   that   belief   a   key   factor   in   certain   decisions   we  
make   as   part   of   our   every   day   business,   and   begin   to   formalize   relationships   to   solve  
shared   challenges   that   we   face   today,   while   preparing   responses   to   the   challenges   of  
tomorrow,   we’ll   effectively   provide   generations   of   Franklin   County   residents   to   come  
with   both   a   higher   standard   and   a   lower   cost   of   living.    If   we   do   not   begin   to   work  
together,   ever   increasing   administrative   and   other   costs   will   begin   to   choke   our   small  
and   large   towns   alike,   which   will   show   in   both   higher   taxes   and   lower   standards   of  
services.    If   we   do   not   begin   to   prepare   responses   for   issues   of   the   future,   our  
community   will   not   adapt   as   needed,   and   our   economic   success   will   decline,   and   if   we  
do   not   take   a   new,   more   vigorous   approach   in   addressing   the   poor   quality   of   water   in  
our   Lake,   we   won’t   achieve   the   results   our   residents   and   business   owners   deserve.   
 
Tonight,   I’m   going   to   propose   to   you   four   significant   undertakings   that   could   produce  
fairly   immediate   success   in   the   short   term,   and   that   should   produce   generational  
success   in   the   long   term.   
 
To   enable   us   to   begin   to   provide   a   pragmatic   and   comprehensive   approach   to   how   we  
look   at   and   create   policies   that   affect   our   local   economy,   I   propose   to   you   that   we  
immediately   commit   to   forming   a   joint   economic   development   task   force   for   St.   Albans,  
made   up   of   equal   representation   of   the   City   and   Town.    I   propose   that   we   first   charge  
this   Task   Force   with   identifying   hurdles   that   small   and   large   businesses   in   St.   Albans  
are   consistently   jumping   over   when   interacting   with   our   two   municipalities.    When   those  
hurdles   are   identified,   I   propose   that   the   task   force   invite   expert   opinions   as   needed,  
and   that   they   form   concrete   recommendations   to   both   the   Selectboard   and   City   Council  



so   that   as   many   hurdles   as   possible   can   be   swiftly   eliminated.    This   group’s   only   goal  
should   be   to   make   doing   business   in   St.   Albans   easier.    When   we’ve   made   our   first  
round   of   recommended   reforms,   we   should   then   ask   the   Task   Force   to   perform   a  
number   of   tasks   for   our   community.    They   could   work   with   FCIDC,   our   school   district,  
and   our   area’s   employers   to   ensure   that   students   are   being   offered   courses   that   teach  
the   skills   our   employers   need.    They   could   work   to   advertise   our   area   to   our   friends   to  
the   North,   and   they   could   make   recommendations   to   make   sure   policies   are   in   place  
and   preparations   are   being   made   so   that   our   community   and   our   county   capitalizes   on  
the   completion   of   the   A35   to   the   Highgate   Border.    They   could   routinely   be   consulted   on  
policies   and   planning   that   could   impact   our   economy,   so   that   we   as   local   legislators   can  
factor   their   perspectives   when   we   make   decisions.   
 
To   begin   the   process   of   creating   a   joint   economic   development   task   force,   I   propose   that  
the   Council   by   consensus   authorize   the   Mayor   and   City   Manager   to   join   the   Town  
Manager   and   I   in   building   a   basic   framework   for   the   Task   Force   to   be   further   fleshed   out  
by   the   group   itself   once   it   meets.    When   we   have   that   framework   ready,   I   suggest   that  
the   Mayor   and   I   call   a   joint   meeting   of   the   Council   and   Selectboard   for   discussion,  
consideration   and   adoption.    When   we’ve   arrived   at   that   point,   we   will   work   together   and  
within   the   approved   agreement   or   policy   to   staff   the   Task   Force   with   expert   volunteer  
residents,   small   business   owners   and   representatives   of   our   community’s   largest  
employers.    Then   the   tough   work   can   begin.  
 
To   address   the   need   to   begin   a   regional   discussion   to   identify   areas   where   we   can   all  
cooperate   together   to   improve   our   County’s   quality   of   life   and   to   reduce   the   burden   we  
all   pass   on   to   our   taxpayers,   I   ask   that   Mayor   Smith,   with   your   consent,   join   me   in  
inviting   all   of   Franklin   County’s   Selectboard   Chairs   and   Village   Board   of   Trustees  
Presidents,   along   with   their   Administrators   and   Managers,   to   meet   with   us.    This  
meeting   could   serve   as   a   beginning   of   a   process   to   formalize   our   relationships   and   to  
identify   the   vehicle   with   which   we   intend   to   deliver   strong   and   long   lasting   results   for   the  
people   of   our   County.    We   need   our   fire   departments,   police   departments,   ambulance  
service   providers,   Department   of   Public   Works   Directors   and   Road   Foremen   and   other  
municipal   service   providers   to   identify   opportunities   to   save   taxpayer   dollars.    We   need  
the   same   folks   to   look   down   the   road   for   us   and   to   make   recommendations   to   our   local  
legislative   bodies   to   prepare   responses   for   the   challenges   of   tomorrow.    Many   of   these  
folks   are   already   meeting   and   are   working   to   accomplish   some   of   these   goals.  
Formalizing   these   relationships   and   reporting   the   results   they   produce   to   the   public   is   an  
effort   that   we   all   need   to   get   behind.    Northwest   Regional   Planning   could   prove   to   be   a  
strong   ally   in   this   effort.    I   understand   that   the   discussion   of   regionalizing   services   will   be  
a   difficult   one   -   but   it’s   a   conversation   we   have   to   have.   The   cost   of   our   housing   is   too  



high,   and   we   need   to   do   our   part   and   work   together   with   our   neighbors   to   make   sure  
we’re   not   collecting   10   cents   more   in   taxes   than   we   absolutely   have   to.    The   goal   is   also  
to   be   able   to   work   together   to   apply   for   grants   to   fund   mutually   beneficial   projects,   and  
to   make   it   easier   for   our   governments   to   interact   with   one   another.   
 
I’d   also   like   to   suggest   that   we   form   a   coalition   of   municipalities   adversely   affected   by  
the   poor   quality   of   water   in   and   around   St.   Albans   and   the   Missisquoi   Bays.    I   propose  
that   we   invite   Georgia   and   Swanton   to   join   us   at   the   same   table,   and   that   we   work  
together   to   maximize   our   efforts   and   consolidate   our   political   strength   until   long   awaited  
results   are   achieved   for   our   residents,   second   home   owners   and   businesses.    Governor  
Scott   ceremoniously   signed   Act   76   into   law   last   Summer   at   the   Bay   Park.    We   were   told  
that   right   around   $60M   annually   had   been   allocated   to   clean   water   funding.    That   was  
great   news,   but   let's   remain   aware   that   just   because   the   cavalry   has   funding   does   not  
mean   it   is   coming   to   Franklin   County.    We   have   to   identify   regional   goals,   communicate  
those   goals   to   the   state,   and   apply   political   pressure   as   needed   to   achieve   the   funding  
we   so   desperately   need.    No   more   studies   -   it’s   time   to   finally   begin   what   will   surely   be   a  
decades   long   process   to    clean   up   our   water .    I   suggest   that   we   ask   the   City   and   Town  
Managers   to   reach   out   to   the   Town   Administrators   in   both   Swanton   and   Georgia,   and  
then   to   NRPC   and   Friends   of   Northern   Lake   Champlain.    Our   objective   should   be   to   set  
a   date   for   an   additional   meeting.  
 
Lastly,   I   suggest   that   we   form   a   small   working   group   of   Town   and   City   staff   and   a   few  
elected   leaders   to   review   our   local   goals   for   recreation   and   pedestrian   infrastructure.  
For   a   number   of   reasons,   now   is   the   perfect   time   to   undertake   this   effort.    If   our  
residents   in   the   Town   support   the   Town’s   goal   of   constructing   a   new   Town   Hall   in   the  
Bay   area,   the   Town   will   have   effectively   caught   up   its   deferred   maintenance   on  
municipal   buildings.    We   will   soon   be   ready   to   shift   our   focus   from   municipal   buildings,  
and   will   need   to   begin   investing   local   option   tax   dollars   in   infrastructure   intended   to   grow  
our   grand   list.    Those   investments   will   include   recreation   and   pedestrian   infrastructure.  
We’ve   seen   how   other   municipalities   and   counties   in   and   around   our   state   have  
emphasized   and   invested   in   their   natural   and   man   made   recreation   assets.    We’ve   seen  
the   revenue   and   growth   that   has   often   accompanied   those   investments.  
 
We   should   ask   this   new   working   group   to   identify   a   major   project   that   would   benefit   our  
communities.    Hard’ack,   the   Town   Forest,   the   Rail   Trail,   the   Bay   and   Bay   Park,   Cohen  
Park,   Houghton   Park,   the   Collins   Perley   Sports   Complex   -   the   list   goes   on.    I’m   of   the  
opinion   that   investments   should   be   made   by   a   collective   group   including   our  
municipalities   and   the   State   of   Vermont   via   grant   funds   to   enhance   and   connect   these  
assets.    Imagine   a   multi-use   path   connecting   Route   7   from   the   area   of   SATEC   to   the  



Complex,   and   from   the   Complex   to   Hard’ack,   and   from   Hard’ack   to   the   Rail   Trail,   and  
then   the   Rail   Trail   to   the   Bay   area.    That   type   of   investment   would   be   transformative   for  
our   area.    It   would   attract   visitors   and   new   residents   which   would   enhance   our   local  
economy,   and   it   would   improve   the   quality   of   life   of   our   current   residents.    This   example  
of   a   major   investment   is   not   as   far   fetched   as   you   might   think.    It’s   only   improbable   at  
the   moment   because   the   isolationism   we’ve   operated   under   to   date   has   fragmented   our  
collective   resolve   and   political   strength.    If   we   work   together,   we   can   take   on   big   projects  
like   this   and   we   can   produce   results   intended   to   grow   our   grand   lists   and   enhance   our  
local   economy.   
 
Mayor   Smith,   thank   you   for   allowing   me   to   be   here   tonight   and   to   address   the   Council.    I  
hope   that   this   is   truly   a   turning   point,   and   that   our   work   together   will   bring   future  
generations   of   St.   Albans   and   the   rest   of   Franklin   County   both   a   higher   standard   and   a  
lower   cost   of   living   than   what   they   would   have   had   if   we   had   not   decided   here   tonight   to  
band   together   and   fight   these   fights   together.    I   know   in   my   heart   that   if   we   commit   to  
working   together   both   here   in   St.   Albans,   and   with   our   neighbors   around   Franklin  
County,   we’ll   be   better   able   to   address   our   current   issues   and   our   future   challenges.    I’d  
be   grateful   to   the   Council   for   its   fairly   immediate   consideration   of   my   four   proposals.   
 
Since   manufacturing   has   been   so   kind   to   our   community,   I’ll   leave   you   this   evening   with  
a   quote   from   a   titan   of   industry   and   one   of   the   fathers   of   modern   day   manufacturing   as  
we   know   it,   Henry   Ford.    Ford   said,   “Coming   together   is   a   beginning.    Keeping   together  
is   progress.    Working   together   is   success.”   
 
With   that   in   mind   and   in   our   hearts,   let’s   go   achieve   some   success.  
 
Thank   you.   
 
 



6 Market Place, Suite 2       |      Essex Junction, Vermont 05452       |      tel  (802) 879.7733       | a e e n g i n e e r s . c o m

1 

MEMORANDUM 
DATE: September 14, 2020 

TO: St. Albans City Council 

CC: Dominic Cloud 
Tom Leitz 
Marty Manahan 

FROM: Wayne Elliott 

RE: Aldis Hill Storage Tank 
Project Update 
A+E Project #19039 

BACKGROUND 

A sanitary survey of the St. Albans Water System was conducted on November 9th, 2018 by the 
State Drinking Water and Groundwater Protection Division (DWGWPD).  The following 
significant/minor deficiencies and comments/considerations were identified during the sanitary 
survey: 
 Insufficient Finished Water Storage

Since “Insufficient Finished Water Storage” is listed as a significant deficiency, the DWGWPD 
required the City to submit a plan and schedule on or before March 31, 2020 after approving a 
deadline extension request.  

This Preliminary Engineering study was started in September 2019 and the final report was 
distributed in June 2020. The State issued their acceptance of the report on September 2, 2020.  

Engineering work has continued with a topographical survey, development of an existing 
conditions and proposed site plan, and subsurface investigation so that the City can move forward 
with the land acquisition.   

PROJECT NEED 

The City of St. Albans has one (1) existing storage tank which serves the majority of the 
distribution system.  The Aldis Hill Storage Tank is a welded steel tank built in 1953 and is located 
on Congress St. with a storage volume of approximately 1.0 million gallons.  The tank has an 
overflow elevation of 696’ and operates at a typical water depth up to 38’.  



2 
 

In September of 2019, the City of St.  Albans partnered with Suez Utility Service Company to 
inspect the tank. Suez performed a Washout Condition Assessment of the tank and submitted 
their findings in a report dated September 10, 2019. It is worth noting that due to a lack of 
redundant storage tanks on the system, the Aldis Hill Storage Tank could not be taken out of 
service for this inspection. As a result, a more detailed inspection could not be performed. 
 
Overall, the report identified issues in the tank across multiple categories including coating, 
structural, safety, and sanitary conditions. This recent inspection shows conditional deficiencies 
that will need to be remedied to maintain the tank in a serviceable condition and extend the useful 
life of the tank. The existing storage tank is the only tank on the Saint Albans water system and 
cannot be taken out of service under current operating conditions of the system without loss of 
fire flow and reduction in operating pressures. The addition of a new storage tank presents an 
opportunity to take the existing tank out of service for improvements and to better align the service 
life of the two tanks. 
 
A summary is provided in Table 1 below of the required storage at the current and design year 
conditions. This table indicates that a minimum of an additional 1,000,000 gallons of storage is 
required at the design year.  
 

Table 1 
Water Distribution Storage Requirements 
Based on Typical Fire Flows of 2,500 gpm 

Description 

2019 
Current Year 

(gallons) 

2040 
Design Year 

(gallons)  
Needed Fire Flow 
(2 hours @ 2,500 gpm, as per ISO) 300,000 300,000 
Average Day Demand 1,865,793 2,100,000 

Required Storage 2,165,397 2,400,000 
Aldis Hill Storage Tank Volume 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Midway PS Credit 
(2 hours @ 1390 gpm) 166,800 166,800 
Fairfax Reservoir  
(2 hours @ 1040 gpm) 124,800 124,800 

Available Storage 1,437,400 1,437,400 
Additional Storage Requirements (727,997) (962,600) 

Use (750,000) (1,000,000) 
 
 
 
  



3 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
It was determined that 1.2 million gallons of water storage is needed to comply with the State 
Water Supply Rules. Previous work determined that raising of the existing Aldis Hill (and by 
extension the system’s hydraulic grade line) was not possible due to the high system pressures 
elsewhere in the existing system. Due to this condition, addition of a new storage tank to the 
system is unavoidable. Additionally, a “do nothing’ option is not a feasible alternative because it 
does not address the significant deficiency identified in the sanitary survey. 
 
When evaluating a new tank, several key decision points form the alternatives were considered, 
these are 1) site location, 2) tank volume, 3) tank materials.  
 
PROPOSED PROJECT 
 
Description 
Due to the nature of this work, and the required sequencing in order to take the existing water 
storage tank offline for rehabilitation, it is assumed that there a multiple phases to the construction 
contracts.  
 Phase 1 – New Water Storage Tank 
 Phase 2 – Existing Storage Tank Rehabilitation 

 
The highest priority of this work is to address the major deficiency identified in the State’s recent 
Sanitary Survey. In order to meet this requirement, both water storage tanks must be in service, 
so the tank will be addressed first. Before the existing water storage tank can be taken offline, the 
new tank must be built and placed into service. Once the new tank is in service, this tank can 
maintain pressure in the Saint Albans distribution system while the existing tank is rehabilitated. 
 
 Phase 1 consists of construction of a new 1.2 MG prestressed concrete storage tank 

adjacent to the existing storage tank. This includes the site improvements and yard piping 
for the new tank, and internal mixing will be provided in the new tank to improve water 
quality.   

 
 Phase 2 includes the rehabilitation of the existing tank and addressing the coating, 

structural, safety, and sanitary conditions. These improvements will include addition of 
mechanical mixing in the tank to improve water quality. 

 
By having both tanks in operation and operating in parallel, the City will have the ability to fill the 
tanks during off peak hours. With the mechanical mixing in each tank, and drawing down the 
water levels in the tanks during the day, the detention time in the tanks will be reduced, thereby 
improving the overall water quality, and odor and taste.  
 
Project Schedule 
For the proposed improvements, a project schedule was developed to implement all phases of 
the project and is based on a March 2021 bond vote for Phase 1.  A tentative project schedule is 
presented in Table 2. 



4 
 

Table 2 
Project Schedule  

Projected Date Task 

2020 December Finalize option agreements for land acquisition 
Start final design and permitting for the new tank.  

2021 
March Bond vote 

Advertise for bids for the New Water Storage Tank 
December  Complete construction of the New Water Storage Tank 

2022 
May Begin rehabilitation of the Existing Water Storage Tank 

August Complete rehabilitation of the Existing Water Storage Tank 
   

 
Estimated Costs 
The opinion of probable construction costs for the proposed Aldis Hill Water Storage Tank 
Improvements are summarized in Table 3.  

 
Table 3 

Estimated Construction Costs 

Phase Project 
Estimated 

Construction Cost 
1 New Water Storage Tank $1,630,000 

2 Existing Storage Tank 
Rehabilitation $1,010,000 

 Total $3,095,000 
 
 
Table 4 below summarizes the total project costs for each phase. Phase 1 has a total project cost 
of $2,300,000. The total project cost includes: a 10% construction contingency, engineering, legal, 
land acquisition, and permit fees.  

 
 

Table 4 
Total Project Cost 

Phase Project Total Cost 
1 New Water Storage Tank $2,300,000 

2 Existing Storage Tank 
Rehabilitation $1,200,000 

 Total $3,500,000 
 

Available Funding  
Effective July 1, 2020, the DWSRF program is offering additional subsidy. For up to 75% in total 
loan value, principal forgiveness is provided for the first $1M. Any amount over the initial $1M 
will be eligible for 25% loan forgiveness. This additional subsidy is on a first come first serve 



5 
 

basis and the project must meet the readiness to proceed. The State funding is summarized in 
Table 5 for Phase 1.  

 

Table 5 
Phase 1  

State Funding Sources 

Funding Sources Total Cost 
DWSRF Additional Subsidy $1,075,000      
DWSRF Revolving Loan (30 yrs) $1,225,000    

Total $2,300,000 
 

 
NEXT STEPS 
 
The following next steps to move this project forward are as follows: 

 Begin the final design and permitting in December 2020.  
 Determine the bond vote schedule and amount. 

 
 
 



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 1

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 CFARRAR   CAITLYN FARRAR                 DEPOSIT REFU Return of Deposit            860.00        0.00      860.00    83521 09/02/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 193          Disinfectant fogging of      400.00        0.00      400.00    83522 09/04/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 194          Disinfectant fogging of      400.00        0.00      400.00    83522 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       800.00

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90804/2      TRASH CAN GALV 31GAL          25.99        0.00       25.99    83523 09/04/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90843/2      BAG SANDWICH EZOPN 90CT       11.98        0.00       11.98    83523 09/04/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90864/2      PUSH STRGHT VLV 1/4X1/4"      45.95        0.00       45.95    83523 09/04/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90865/2      CM WIDE MOUTH TL BAG 13"      -5.99        0.00       -5.99    83523 09/04/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90866/2      CM WIDE MOUTH TL BAG 13"      -2.00        0.00       -2.00    83523 09/04/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90871/2      CABLE W/PADLOCK3/8X6'         39.98        0.00       39.98    83523 09/04/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90910/2      KEYKRAFTER #66 CP BRASS        3.79        0.00        3.79    83523 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       119.70

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   11C4-TL9T-4J Registered - Makes 25 Ga     149.13        0.00      149.13    83524 09/04/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   16QW-9DFM-PN 840 Sq. Ft. Air Purifier    1080.00        0.00     1080.00    83524 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1229.13

 AXON      AXON ENTERPRISE, INC.          SI-1676444   Equipment                   2686.00        0.00     2686.00    83525 09/04/20

 007316    BERGERON PROTECTIVE CLOTHING   223444       Smith  Wesson Badge w/se     178.94        0.00      178.94    83526 09/04/20

 BOURBEAU  BOURBEAU AGGREGATE LLC         1105         Plant Mix on 08/07/2020.     520.00        0.00      520.00    83527 09/04/20

 CBHI      CENTER FOR BEHAVIORAL HEALTH I July         7/9/2020 MI Coaching and     100.00        0.00      100.00    83528 09/04/20

 CVC       CENTRAL VERMONT COMMUNICATIONS 5242166D     Paging service                39.75        0.00       39.75    83529 09/04/20

 CJCREST   CHRIS CONTI                    2019-14510EA Chris Conti                   60.00        0.00       60.00    83530 09/04/20

 020100    CLEAN WATERS INC               11192        Charge-Pack 298 Cationic    4342.24        0.00     4342.24    83531 09/04/20

 COTA      COTA SERVICE STATION AND AUTO  688118       warranty                     -64.50        0.00      -64.50    83532 09/04/20

 COTA      COTA SERVICE STATION AND AUTO  688976       truck shoc                   180.30        0.00      180.30    83532 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       115.80

 024900    DESORCIE EMERGENCY PRODUCTS LL 16230        Door bar                     631.00        0.00      631.00    83533 09/04/20

 DRMPLLC   DOWNS RACHLIN MARTIN PLLC      Farrer retur Farrer deposit               860.00        0.00      860.00    83534 09/04/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5749651      PAVING                      2269.44        0.00     2269.44    83535 09/04/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5749730      PAVING STOCK                 209.76        0.00      209.76    83535 09/04/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5753448      PEARL STREET                 171.23        0.00      171.23    83535 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      2650.43



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 2

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 029150    ENDYNE,INC                     342792       St Albans WWTF               140.00        0.00      140.00    83536 09/04/20

 030100    F W WEBB   COMPANY             68358913     BX Rod                       303.20        0.00      303.20    83537 09/04/20

 030100    F W WEBB   COMPANY             68374829     SDDL 12X3/4"                 133.28        0.00      133.28    83537 09/04/20

 030100    F W WEBB   COMPANY             68378968     0|CPLG LF BRS 3/4"           133.50        0.00      133.50    83537 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       569.98

 031095    FASTENAL                       VTSTA81429   equipment                    208.99        0.00      208.99    83538 09/04/20

 031095    FASTENAL                       VTSTA81433   equipment                     24.36        0.00       24.36    83538 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       233.35

 HANNAFORD HANNAFORD                      068465       food                          81.22        0.00       81.22    83539 09/04/20

 HEARTWOOD HEARTWOOD LANDSCAPE SERVICES L 6296         1 Tie up trees 7.8.20        210.00        0.00      210.00    83540 09/04/20

 042750    HOLLAND COMPANY, INC.          4963         Commercial Liquid Alumin    4627.23        0.00     4627.23    83541 09/04/20

 RECREF    JENNIFER RAFFERTY              Jennifer Raf Jennifer Rafferty            115.00        0.00      115.00    83542 09/04/20

 049150    KEVIN SMITH SPORTS             270915       GAME BALL NOCSAE             150.00        0.00      150.00    83543 09/04/20

 KIMBALL   KIMBALL MIDWEST                8159184      5633215T                     122.13        0.00      122.13    83544 09/04/20

 052650    LEADBEATER CONSULTING          TLC071020A   Offsite - Upgrade Mayor'     240.00        0.00      240.00    83545 09/04/20

 052650    LEADBEATER CONSULTING          TLC071520A   Onsite - Visits to Maqua     150.00        0.00      150.00    83545 09/04/20

 052650    LEADBEATER CONSULTING          TLC083020A   Onsite Saturday and Sund     700.00        0.00      700.00    83545 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1090.00

 053500    LENNY'S SHOE & APPAREL         2172136      clothing                     913.23        0.00      913.23    83546 09/04/20

 SODAROM   MAUREEN SODARO                 july/august  Zumba                        144.00        0.00      144.00    83547 09/04/20

 058338    MCCRACKEN TENT RENTAL          080920       lent Rental                  540.00        0.00      540.00    83548 09/04/20

 VTPRINT   MINUTEMAN PRESS                SEP 2020 Pos UB Sep Postage Bills        1537.04        0.00     1537.04    83549 09/04/20

 MSD       MONAGHAN SAFAR DUCHAM PLLC     15632        Tax Sale - Corwell, Lisa     105.00        0.00      105.00    83550 09/04/20

 NEPBA     NEPBA COMPTROLLER LOCAL #420   PR 090420    090420 PR                    624.00        0.00      624.00    83551 09/04/20

 PACKAGING PACKAGING RESEARCH AND DESIGN  124798       EA D30-96-4IA               1780.41        0.00     1780.41    83552 09/04/20

 070950    PIKE INDUSTRIES, INC.          1096347      Asphalt                      159.36        0.00      159.36    83553 09/04/20

 POWERSHIF POWERSHIFT                     #47776       CloudMail:                   241.95        0.00      241.95    83554 09/04/20

 075600    REYNOLDS AND SON, INC.         3376943      Thomas KSCOTT                114.74        0.00      114.74    83555 09/04/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 3

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 075600    REYNOLDS AND SON, INC.         3376944      Thomas KSCOTT                 32.95        0.00       32.95    83555 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       147.69

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4388233      Total Fuel:                  138.40        0.00      138.40    83556 09/04/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4401897      Total Fuel:                   83.67        0.00       83.67    83556 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       222.07

 081320    SIRCHIE FINGER PRINT LAB       0454226-IN   G*Sirchmark orange           180.87        0.00      180.87    83557 09/04/20

 081500    SLACK CHEMICAL CO, INC         408526       261 G Caustic 25%            651.43        0.00      651.43    83558 09/04/20

 SMITTYS   SMITTY'S CLEAN SWEEP           For Sept 202 Cleaning                    1050.00        0.00     1050.00    83559 09/04/20

 090800    TOWN OF GEORGIA                Georgia FY21 Georgia tax bill            2224.74        0.00     2224.74    83560 09/04/20

 TOWNLINE  TOWNLINE AUTO REPAIR           11739        Towing fee                   175.00        0.00      175.00    83561 09/04/20

 UNITED    UNITED RENTALS (NORTH AMERICA) 184223118-00 trench box                  2810.00        0.00     2810.00    83562 09/04/20

 092750    USA BLUE BOOK                  335719       UltraBeads w/Cherry Scen      71.90        0.00       71.90    83563 09/04/20

 044550    VANTAGEPOINT TRANSFER AGENTS-3 PR 090420    PR 090420                   3613.10        0.00     3613.10    83564 09/04/20

 CJCREST   VERMONT RESTITUTION UNIT       Makarov      Vermont Center for Crime     250.90        0.00      250.90    83565 09/04/20

 VHB       VHB                            0321838      Federal St Sidewalks         684.29        0.00      684.29    83566 09/04/20

 VHB       VHB                            0322237      Kingman Street Project      6070.90        0.00     6070.90    83566 09/04/20

 VHB       VHB                            0322725      Fonda Environmental Asse    3628.75        0.00     3628.75    83566 09/04/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total     10383.94

 VIKINGCIV VIKING-CIVES USA               4499291      vo00009619 Puplic works     1008.20        0.00     1008.20    83567 09/04/20

 097150    VLCT/PACIF                     0595E        insurance                 128503.75        0.00   128503.75    83568 09/04/20

 VMERS-B   VMERS DB - B                   AUGUST PR    August PR                  24657.53        0.00    24657.53    83569 09/04/20

 VMERS-C   --- None ---                   -- VOID --                                  0.00        0.00        0.00    83570 09/04/20

 100500    WORKING DOG SEPTIC SERVICES    13492        PORT TOILET RENTAL           110.00        0.00      110.00    83571 09/04/20

 TRUELEAF  TRUE LEAF LANDSCAPING AND STON 06292020     brainard st                  600.00        0.00      600.00    83572 09/04/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 195          Disinfectant Fogging of      320.00        0.00      320.00    83573 09/08/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 196          Disinfectant fogging of      280.00        0.00      280.00    83573 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       600.00



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 4

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90901/2      COVER BLANK PVC SQU 4"         2.29        0.00        2.29    83574 09/08/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90939/2      TAPE BARCDE CAUTION1000'       9.99        0.00        9.99    83574 09/08/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         91001/2      FRESHNR AIR TREE NEW CAR      16.42        0.00       16.42    83574 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total        28.70

 002300    ALLEN ENGINEERING & CHEM CORP  111-519875-0 CHEMICAL CORPORATION        2404.50        0.00     2404.50    83575 09/08/20

 002300    ALLEN ENGINEERING & CHEM CORP  111-519882-0 CHEMICAL CORPORATION        1130.00        0.00     1130.00    83575 09/08/20

 002300    ALLEN ENGINEERING & CHEM CORP  111-519883-0 CHEMICAL CORPORATION        1595.00        0.00     1595.00    83575 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      5129.50

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   14JR-CR46-DW Equipment for Remote Con     187.94        0.00      187.94    83576 09/08/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   19JL-3MPH-6D Humixx Shockproof Series      21.98        0.00       21.98    83576 09/08/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1FJ1-DMMY-FV Backup Battery Power Sup      44.99        0.00       44.99    83576 09/08/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1FQV-RQQ6-6M 50-Pack Party Horns - As      14.98        0.00       14.98    83576 09/08/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1K3T-DJMT-7Q (MZ-76E250B/AM)               99.98        0.00       99.98    83576 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       369.87

 RECREF    ASHLEY MURPHY                  Ashley Murph Ashley murphy                268.00        0.00      268.00    83577 09/08/20

 BRIGHAM   BRIGHAM ROAD  SELF STORAGE LLC 10579        Storage                       75.00        0.00       75.00    83578 09/08/20

 CBHI      CENTER FOR BEHAVIORAL HEALTH I June         6/11/2020 MI Coaching an     100.00        0.00      100.00    83579 09/08/20

 CBHI      CENTER FOR BEHAVIORAL HEALTH I May          5/14/2020 MI Coaching an     100.00        0.00      100.00    83579 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       200.00

 COTT      COTT SYSTEMS, INC.             136007       XEROXOGRAPHIC PAP_02         375.24        0.00      375.24    83580 09/08/20

 DION      DION SECURITY INC.             46425        City Hall Door               441.00        0.00      441.00    83581 09/08/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5751492      PAVING                      1134.72        0.00     1134.72    83582 09/08/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5753451      STOCK                        329.04        0.00      329.04    83582 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1463.76

 029750    ESSEX RENTAL & SALES CENTER    10761844-000 CHAINSAW,STIHL MS170 16"     287.90        0.00      287.90    83583 09/08/20

 030100    F W WEBB   COMPANY             68335547     0|SOLV CEM BLW ZERO         1087.86        0.00     1087.86    83584 09/08/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-115623A  Engine Crankshaft            -44.11        0.00      -44.11    83585 09/08/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-115997   L.V. DORMAN HARDPART         171.26        0.00      171.26    83585 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       127.15

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1504214      67 ALDIS RD                   43.43        0.00       43.43    83586 09/08/20

 035500    GEORGE S WOOD INC              294425       255/60R18                    600.00        0.00      600.00    83587 09/08/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 5

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 GREENFEET GREEN FEET GARDENING           765          Taylor Park Rain Garden     2200.00        0.00     2200.00    83588 09/08/20

 GREENFEET GREEN FEET GARDENING           766          Downtown Landscaping        5000.00        0.00     5000.00    83588 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      7200.00

 038175    GREEN MOUNTAIN ELECTRIC SUPPLY S3586579.001 CRH 369 3-2" REDUCING WA       1.77        0.00        1.77    83589 09/08/20

 038175    GREEN MOUNTAIN ELECTRIC SUPPLY S3588141.001 KRALOY 078241 FSKIT 1G B       4.08        0.00        4.08    83589 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total         5.85

 LEENVIRON LE ENVIRONMENTAL LLC           18-112-16    clean soil source sampli    2288.00        0.00     2288.00    83590 09/08/20

 052650    LEADBEATER CONSULTING          TLC071820A   Offsite RJC - Check on A     150.00        0.00      150.00    83591 09/08/20

 052650    LEADBEATER CONSULTING          TLC082220A   Onsite RJC - Diagnose is     350.00        0.00      350.00    83591 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       500.00

 MSG       MAIN STREET GRAPHICS, LLC      9877         sharks swim team             957.00        0.00      957.00    83592 09/08/20

 MSG       MAIN STREET GRAPHICS, LLC      9881         Mayor's Photo Contest Si      54.75        0.00       54.75    83592 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1011.75

 070950    PIKE INDUSTRIES, INC.          1096978      Asphalt                      509.44        0.00      509.44    83593 09/08/20

 PRIMMER   PRIMMER PIPER EGGLESTON & CRAM B04914-00012 Research, correspondence     350.00        0.00      350.00    83594 09/08/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4388234      Total Fuel:                   80.47        0.00       80.47    83595 09/08/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4388235      Plant Regular                514.58        0.00      514.58    83595 09/08/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4401898      Total Fuel:                   76.45        0.00       76.45    83595 09/08/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4401899      Total Fuel:                  702.00        0.00      702.00    83595 09/08/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4401902      Fuel                         424.95        0.00      424.95    83595 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1798.45

 085000    ST ALBANS TOWN CLERK           11031105     Reimburse Town for Town       80.00        0.00       80.00    83596 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108167       FENCE POST 13GA U-POSTS      131.88        0.00      131.88    83597 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108206       INSUL,BLUE DOW 2"X2X8         35.74        0.00       35.74    83597 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108316       INSUL,BLUE DOW 2"X4X8 TG     429.00        0.00      429.00    83597 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108317       FENCE POST 13GA U-POSTS     -131.88        0.00     -131.88    83597 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108526       CHAIN PROOF COIL 5/16"        59.47        0.00       59.47    83597 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108714       MARKING PAINT 17OZ Fluo       16.17        0.00       16.17    83597 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108762       STAKE, GRADE 4' HARDWOOD      53.33        0.00       53.33    83597 09/08/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 109600       3M HD DUCT TAPE 1.88"X45      34.97        0.00       34.97    83597 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       628.68

 091275    TRAINERS AUTOMOTIVE CENTER     7825         CAR #3 2017 FORD INTERCE     178.03        0.00      178.03    83598 09/08/20

 091275    TRAINERS AUTOMOTIVE CENTER     7826         CAR #5 2016 FORD INTERCE      43.72        0.00       43.72    83598 09/08/20

 091275    TRAINERS AUTOMOTIVE CENTER     7849         2007 CMC SIERRA MIL 4600    1134.25        0.00     1134.25    83598 09/08/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 6

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 091275    TRAINERS AUTOMOTIVE CENTER     7853         CAR #7 2017 FORD POLICE      420.02        0.00      420.02    83598 09/08/20

 091275    TRAINERS AUTOMOTIVE CENTER     7854         255/60R18                    137.72        0.00      137.72    83598 09/08/20

 091275    TRAINERS AUTOMOTIVE CENTER     7857         CAR #10 2007 CMC SIERRA      661.96        0.00      661.96    83598 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      2575.70

 097210    --- None ---                   -- VOID --                                  0.00        0.00        0.00    83599 09/08/20

 REF MDNL  VT DOC F.B.O. GENE QUICK       Gene Quick   Gene Quick                  1262.00        0.00     1262.00    83600 09/08/20

 105060    WRIGHTS EXCAVATING             4B           sidewalks                 238068.90        0.00   238068.90    83601 09/08/20

 105060    WRIGHTS EXCAVATING             9A           sidewalks finish           10000.00        0.00    10000.00    83601 09/08/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total    248068.90

 097210    PATTI LEWIS, VMCTA MEMBERSHIP  2020-2021    city, village                 55.00        0.00       55.00    83602 09/08/20

 000300    A-1 RUBBER STAMP SHOP          171075       Board member name plates      23.20        0.00       23.20    83603 09/11/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 197          Disinfectant fogging         360.00        0.00      360.00    83604 09/11/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 198          Disinfectant fogging         400.00        0.00      400.00    83604 09/11/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 199          Disinfectant fogging         280.00        0.00      280.00    83604 09/11/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 200          Disinfectant fogging         400.00        0.00      400.00    83604 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1440.00

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90946/2      ALL SEASONS HOSE5/8X125       39.99        0.00       39.99    83605 09/11/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         90987/2      BATTRY ALKLN DURA AA CD4       6.99        0.00        6.99    83605 09/11/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         941750/2     CABINET 2DR/4SLF 69.375"     639.96        0.00      639.96    83605 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       686.94

 000480    ADVANCE AUTO PARTS             3681         Mirror and mount for cru       9.82        0.00        9.82    83606 09/11/20

 032328    ALDRICH + ELLIOTT, PC          79366        Aldis                       6497.55        0.00     6497.55    83607 09/11/20

 032328    ALDRICH + ELLIOTT, PC          79372        Lower                       2798.00        0.00     2798.00    83607 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      9295.55

 002300    ALLEN ENGINEERING & CHEM CORP  111-519810-0 CHEMICAL CORPORATION         309.20        0.00      309.20    83608 09/11/20

 002500    AM CARE AMBULANCE SERVICE      09012020     AmCare                     12343.38        0.00    12343.38    83609 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   11CR-7CLK-QA Royal Palillos UV Treate       8.19        0.00        8.19    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   13X6-HL4R-HK High def display with ca      30.68        0.00       30.68    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   14CF-NX31-TJ toner                         32.78        0.00       32.78    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   19D6-G3CL-46 coppertone kids sunsc         31.24        0.00       31.24    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1F1C-TVKR-NA Return and Over payment      -47.76        0.00      -47.76    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1K9F-VVQY-6G ASIN:                         26.99        0.00       26.99    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1MJW-G7NY-CA Viruses and Bacteria, 4       12.95        0.00       12.95    83610 09/11/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 7

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1MPV-Y4LQ-LA Lysol Clean  Fresh Multi      44.96        0.00       44.96    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1PRP-3FXW-PA Duck, Spotted Leopard, B      11.53        0.00       11.53    83610 09/11/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1PWX-FKT7-79 Home, Office, Kitchen,        35.68        0.00       35.68    83610 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       187.24

 AXON      AXON ENTERPRISE, INC.          1678581      Axon license renewal       20169.00        0.00    20169.00    83611 09/11/20

 007316    BERGERON PROTECTIVE CLOTHING   223498       Pair of Fire Chief gold      315.70        0.00      315.70    83612 09/11/20

 007316    BERGERON PROTECTIVE CLOTHING   223521       Blackinton badge             100.70        0.00      100.70    83612 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       416.40

 011710    BROOK FIELD SERVICE            36451        Generator installation      6800.00        0.00     6800.00    83613 09/11/20

 012750    BURLINGTON COMMUNICATION SER C BCS6587      Console warranty contrac     600.00        0.00      600.00    83614 09/11/20

 014750    CAMP PRECAST CONCRETE PRDS, IN 45003        SPECIAL ORDER CONTROL PA    2890.00        0.00     2890.00    83615 09/11/20

 CBHI      CENTER FOR BEHAVIORAL HEALTH I FEB          2/13/2020 MI Coaching an     332.20        0.00      332.20    83616 09/11/20

 CFSWMA    CFSWMA 15-16                   1197170      Sludge                      9168.00        0.00     9168.00    83617 09/11/20

 016725    CHAMPLAIN HOUSING TRUST        VCDP Req 1   Home Repair Loan from VC   92854.00        0.00    92854.00    83618 09/11/20

 W/WW KL   CITY OF ST ALBANS WATER & SEWE 22054029F    Fonda Utilities              756.00        0.00      756.00    83619 09/11/20

 012300    CLARENCE BROWN  INC            96743        Fuel backhoe                  73.14        0.00       73.14    83620 09/11/20

 023000    CROSS CONSULTING ENGINEERS,PC  09073.3      Thursday, September 03,      265.07        0.00      265.07    83621 09/11/20

 023000    CROSS CONSULTING ENGINEERS,PC  112390       18003- COSA, Main  Congr    1556.00        0.00     1556.00    83621 09/11/20

 023000    CROSS CONSULTING ENGINEERS,PC  112393       19057- COSA, city pool       263.50        0.00      263.50    83621 09/11/20

 023000    CROSS CONSULTING ENGINEERS,PC  112409       20051- COSA, Police Stat     975.00        0.00      975.00    83621 09/11/20

 023000    CROSS CONSULTING ENGINEERS,PC  112412       Parcel research for Cool    2377.03        0.00     2377.03    83621 09/11/20

 023000    CROSS CONSULTING ENGINEERS,PC  172385       13094.4- COSA, 2020 Side    1384.37        0.00     1384.37    83621 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      6820.97

 DELLUSA   DELL MARKETING LP              300006707800 Firewall                     690.75        0.00      690.75    83622 09/11/20

 026600    DUBOIS CHEMICALS, INC          IN-2008572   COAGULITE 450 208L/55G      3869.46        0.00     3869.46    83623 09/11/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5755913      PAVING RISERS                992.88        0.00      992.88    83624 09/11/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5758189      SEWER C-29                   152.75        0.00      152.75    83624 09/11/20

 027650    E J PRESCOTT INC.              5758819      RISER RING                   141.84        0.00      141.84    83624 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1287.47

 029150    ENDYNE,INC                     344117       Blue Tank Sludge             442.00        0.00      442.00    83625 09/11/20

 029150    ENDYNE,INC                     344240       St Albans WWTF               140.00        0.00      140.00    83625 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       582.00



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 8

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 030100    F W WEBB   COMPANY             68430685     0|CRB STP LF BRS             323.00        0.00      323.00    83626 09/11/20

 031095    FASTENAL                       VTSTA81354   Wipes and pump bottles-c     429.18        0.00      429.18    83627 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-115667   Brake Bleeder Screw            6.87        0.00        6.87    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-115711   Sheetmetal Sheet              83.89        0.00       83.89    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-115809   clip                           4.07        0.00        4.07    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-115939   sto leak                       4.13        0.00        4.13    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-116104   HVAC Blend Door Actuator     -42.12        0.00      -42.12    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-116116   Engine Crankshaft             44.11        0.00       44.11    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-116281   Bag Of Rags: 1 Lb              5.25        0.00        5.25    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-116969   A-l BRAKE PART               137.27        0.00      137.27    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-117005   light bar                     16.06        0.00       16.06    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-117057   light                         13.78        0.00       13.78    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-117079   ORANGE CRUSH CT CLN           20.72        0.00       20.72    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-117529   battery                      111.87        0.00      111.87    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-117533   ORIG INV: 117529             -18.00        0.00      -18.00    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-117618   light                         12.01        0.00       12.01    83628 09/11/20

 FISHER    FISHER AUTO PARTS INC.         308-117737   Unioaded Caliper             -54.00        0.00      -54.00    83628 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       345.91

 {O!VOID!} --- None ---                   -- VOID --                                  0.00        0.00        0.00    83629 09/11/20

 032850    FRANKLIN CTY HOME HEALTH AGENC FY21 appropr Home Health                69577.00        0.00    69577.00    83630 09/11/20

 034750    GALLS INCORPORATED             016242864    Blackhawk holster, Cote       48.28        0.00       48.28    83631 09/11/20

 034750    GALLS INCORPORATED             016280789    Pocket key - Garrant all       6.74        0.00        6.74    83631 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total        55.02

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1503804      100 NORTH MAIN               245.59        0.00      245.59    83632 09/11/20

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1503813      32 LOWER WELDON              199.35        0.00      199.35    83632 09/11/20

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1503814      KINGMAN  MAIN                505.74        0.00      505.74    83632 09/11/20

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1503815      36 ALDIS ST                  320.07        0.00      320.07    83632 09/11/20

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1503816      79 REWES DR                  124.25        0.00      124.25    83632 09/11/20

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1503895      30 BARLOW ST                 200.37        0.00      200.37    83632 09/11/20

 035275    GAUTHIER TRUCKING COMPANY, INC 1504745      12 CONGRESS ST               250.87        0.00      250.87    83632 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1846.24

 GREENDOLP GREEN DOLPHIN, LLC             2253         Hardack Inv                29289.00        0.00    29289.00    83633 09/11/20

 040000    HACH COMPANY                   12095489     aa KTO: REAGENT SET, CHL     328.35        0.00      328.35    83634 09/11/20

 040000    HACH COMPANY                   12098385     TBG POLY .250 OD .040 W       42.50        0.00       42.50    83634 09/11/20

 040000    HACH COMPANY                   12103903     M-COLIBLUE24 PLASTIC AMP     328.69        0.00      328.69    83634 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       699.54

 042750    HOLLAND COMPANY, INC.          5108         Commercial Liquid Alumin    5218.72        0.00     5218.72    83635 09/11/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                          Page 9

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 CJCREST   KEVIN BEAN                     2019-06169 B Kevin Bean                    25.00        0.00       25.00    83636 09/11/20

 052650    LEADBEATER CONSULTING          TLC090220A   Onsite RJC - Install new     100.00        0.00      100.00    83637 09/11/20

 053500    LENNY'S SHOE & APPAREL         2173198      Cote boot allowance          166.50        0.00      166.50    83638 09/11/20

 MSG       MAIN STREET GRAPHICS, LLC      9881A        Mayor Photo Contest           54.75        0.00       54.75    83639 09/11/20

 058625    MCNEIL, LEDDY & SHEAHAN        34198        Current Legal Fees          1387.00        0.00     1387.00    83640 09/11/20

 CJCREST   MELINDA LAPAN                  2019-06169B  Melinda Lapan                 25.00        0.00       25.00    83641 09/11/20

 CJCREST   MELISSA LAROSE                 melissa larA Melissa Larose               100.00        0.00      100.00    83642 09/11/20

 CJCREST   MELISSA SARGENT-MINOR          Melissa Sarg Melissa Sargent-Minor        202.00        0.00      202.00    83643 09/11/20

 MSD       MONAGHAN SAFAR DUCHAM PLLC     15826        Tax Sale Legal Fees           45.00        0.00       45.00    83644 09/11/20

 NYSFIRE   NYS - ACADENY OF FIRE SCIENCE  33282        McCarty training             517.00        0.00      517.00    83645 09/11/20

 070950    PIKE INDUSTRIES, INC.          1097863      Asphalt                      259.20        0.00      259.20    83646 09/11/20

 PRIMMER   PRIMMER PIPER EGGLESTON & CRAM 198737       highway improvement fina     350.00        0.00      350.00    83647 09/11/20

 PRIMMER   PRIMMER PIPER EGGLESTON & CRAM 198738       Local Option Tax             350.00        0.00      350.00    83647 09/11/20

 PRIMMER   PRIMMER PIPER EGGLESTON & CRAM 198739       Recreation Facility          350.00        0.00      350.00    83647 09/11/20

 PRIMMER   PRIMMER PIPER EGGLESTON & CRAM B04914-0001D Municipal Bond Bank Seri    2450.00        0.00     2450.00    83647 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      3500.00

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                291825       Interest                       5.40        0.00        5.40    83648 09/11/20

 080100    SEVEN DAYS, INC                206095       Downtown Ad                  824.50        0.00      824.50    83649 09/11/20

 081500    SLACK CHEMICAL CO, INC         408891       254 G Caustic 25%            634.44        0.00      634.44    83650 09/11/20

 084400    ST ALBANS COOP CREAMERY INC    414249       TRASH CAN GALVANIZED 20      -20.49        0.00      -20.49    83651 09/11/20

 084400    ST ALBANS COOP CREAMERY INC    414508       SPRING #66U                   25.50        0.00       25.50    83651 09/11/20

 084400    ST ALBANS COOP CREAMERY INC    414547       HINGE PIPE GATE               20.67        0.00       20.67    83651 09/11/20

 084400    ST ALBANS COOP CREAMERY INC    414567       TOMCAT KITCHEN BAGS            9.99        0.00        9.99    83651 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total        35.67

 084750    ST ALBANS MESSENGER            296459       Downtown BINGO Ads          2250.00        0.00     2250.00    83652 09/11/20

 084750    ST ALBANS MESSENGER            296770       DRB Hearing                  127.30        0.00      127.30    83652 09/11/20

 084750    ST ALBANS MESSENGER            296777       Downtown Bingo Ad           2250.00        0.00     2250.00    83652 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      4627.30

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 108508       SCHLUTER LATEX MODI THIN     147.96        0.00      147.96    83653 09/11/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 109071       STAKE, GRADE 4' HARDWOOD      53.33        0.00       53.33    83653 09/11/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                         Page 10

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 109379       MIDWEST FASTENER              30.64        0.00       30.64    83653 09/11/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 109557       SAKRETE CONCRETE MIX,         11.72        0.00       11.72    83653 09/11/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 109612       STAKE, GRADE 4' HARDWOOD      35.55        0.00       35.55    83653 09/11/20

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 110150       4" RIBBON MUD MIXER 4IN       16.99        0.00       16.99    83653 09/11/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       296.19

 086701    SURPASS CHEMICAL COMPANY INC   350270       Sodium Hypochlorite         2117.58        0.00     2117.58    83654 09/11/20

 SWANTON   SWANTON VILLAGE                462937       Electric 07/30/2020 - 08     103.80        0.00      103.80    83655 09/11/20

 087400    SWISH KENCO LTD                W393493      Supp Code: CP-31650         4123.00        0.00     4123.00    83656 09/11/20

 REFPKTI   TIM SMITH                      oc mcuin     Mayor Photo Contest Reim     139.00        0.00      139.00    83657 09/11/20

 090750    TOWN OF FAIRFIELD              052-0955.000 052-0955.000                 894.13        0.00      894.13    83658 09/11/20

 TREADLIGH TREAD LIGHTLY LANDSCAPING LLC  279          8/7/2020 7 Nason Street      285.00        0.00      285.00    83659 09/11/20

 097050    VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE AND B 30652-Q4     Quarterly Contribution $    1603.00        0.00     1603.00    83660 09/11/20

 VMERS-C   VMERS DB - C                   AUGUST PR    August PR                  25597.20        0.00    25597.20    83661 09/11/20

 105690    XTREME GRAFIX LLC              4789         Mayoral Photo Contest pr    1300.00        0.00     1300.00    83662 09/11/20

 APPELR    ROBERT APPEL                   STEARNS      re: Brandon Stearns         8750.00        0.00     8750.00    83663 09/14/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 201          Disinfectant fogging         400.00        0.00      400.00    83664 09/18/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 202          Disinfectant fogging         320.00        0.00      320.00    83664 09/18/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 203          Disinfectant fogging         330.00        0.00      330.00    83664 09/18/20

 TAYLCO    ABOVE & BEYOND BUILDING SERVIC 204          Disinfectant fogging         320.00        0.00      320.00    83664 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1370.00

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         91062/2      TRANSPLNT SPADE 8.5X46.2      28.99        0.00       28.99    83665 09/18/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         91065/2      HAND SAW 20" 9 PT COARSE      94.96        0.00       94.96    83665 09/18/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         91071/2      CLEANR TIRE FOAM 20 OZ         9.48        0.00        9.48    83665 09/18/20

 000405    ACE HARDWARE ST ALBANS         91089/2      LED ACE A19 60W EQ DAY        16.98        0.00       16.98    83665 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       150.41

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   19X1-QCPX-YC Desktop, Laptop, PC, Mon     170.50        0.00      170.50    83666 09/18/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1W4K-GD4Y-CD 4111 Great Northern Popc     138.48        0.00      138.48    83666 09/18/20

 AMAZON    AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES, INC   1WV6-T1XW-YV Webcam for Remote Meetin      34.99        0.00       34.99    83666 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       343.97

 PROPTAXES BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING, LLC    25087082     25087082- HAYDEN GLORIA      356.92        0.00      356.92    83667 09/18/20

 027825    EASTERN INDUSTRIAL AUTOMATION  4743530B     pb 4 bolt                    386.95        0.00      386.95    83668 09/18/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                         Page 11

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 027825    EASTERN INDUSTRIAL AUTOMATION  4775439      pb 4 bolt                  34267.60        0.00    34267.60    83668 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total     34654.55

 030100    F W WEBB   COMPANY             68553591     0|SRV SDDL 8X3/4" CC DBL     354.13        0.00      354.13    83669 09/18/20

 034750    GALLS INCORPORATED             016341973    KEYPER KEY                   259.92        0.00      259.92    83670 09/18/20

 034750    GALLS INCORPORATED             016359803    PROTAC HL-X                   70.81        0.00       70.81    83670 09/18/20

 034750    GALLS INCORPORATED             016400735    X300 ULTRA LED               783.35        0.00      783.35    83670 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      1114.08

 035500    GEORGE S WOOD INC              289467       sweeper repair                50.00        0.00       50.00    83671 09/18/20

 035500    GEORGE S WOOD INC              294425A      TIRE FLAT                     21.00        0.00       21.00    83671 09/18/20

 035500    GEORGE S WOOD INC              2S2679       MISCELLANEOUS SERVICE LA      38.95        0.00       38.95    83671 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       109.95

 038175    GREEN MOUNTAIN ELECTRIC SUPPLY S3595116.001 COOPER APEL EMERGENCY LI      72.28        0.00       72.28    83672 09/18/20

 GREEST    GSPP FF FUND II LLC            INV001115    Solar                      16718.58        0.00    16718.58    83673 09/18/20

 VTPRINT   MINUTEMAN PRESS                9/10/2020    UB Sep print and mail se    1219.90        0.00     1219.90    83674 09/18/20

 NEPBA     NEPBA COMPTROLLER LOCAL #420   PR 09182020  PR 091820                    612.00        0.00      612.00    83675 09/18/20

 065295    NFPA                           7800790Y     Guide for Fire and Explo     227.95        0.00      227.95    83676 09/18/20

 066380    NORTHEAST MAILING SYSTEMS, LLC 361699       BOWES RED INK CARTRIDGE      316.95        0.00      316.95    83677 09/18/20

 NYSFIRE   NYS - ACADENY OF FIRE SCIENCE  V0033348     Fire investigation cours     409.00        0.00      409.00    83678 09/18/20

 PFC       PAUL FRANK & COLLINS           183368       RE: Grievance - Z. Pigeo    4030.30        0.00     4030.30    83679 09/18/20

 071650    PORTLAND GLASS                 393-836707   Rec Dept                     273.91        0.00      273.91    83680 09/18/20

 PRIMMER   PRIMMER PIPER EGGLESTON & CRAM 207227       Research, correspondence     175.00        0.00      175.00    83681 09/18/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4418097      Regular                       70.58        0.00       70.58    83682 09/18/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4418098      ST. ALBANS,                  437.61        0.00      437.61    83682 09/18/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4432008      Fuel and car wash            105.05        0.00      105.05    83682 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       613.24

 079650    SECURSHRED                     343465       Shredding contract            22.00        0.00       22.00    83683 09/18/20

 080850    SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO.           6503-8       res ext                       42.82        0.00       42.82    83684 09/18/20

 080850    SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO.           6504-6       2.5cc elite                   51.57        0.00       51.57    83684 09/18/20

 080850    SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO.           6508-7       powerhouse white               5.42        0.00        5.42    83684 09/18/20

 080850    SHERWIN WILLIAMS CO.           8256-1       res ext pool                 114.51        0.00      114.51    83684 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total       214.32



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                         Page 12

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 085000    ST ALBANS TOWN CLERK           1107         Reimburse town ticket pa      40.00        0.00       40.00    83685 09/18/20

 085000    ST ALBANS TOWN CLERK           1851         Town ticket paid to city      40.00        0.00       40.00    83685 09/18/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total        80.00

 086322    STICKS & STUFF                 110497       SAKRETE POST SET MIX, 40     349.40        0.00      349.40    83686 09/18/20

 TMDE      TMDE CALIBRATION LABS, INC     39316        Lidar Repair / Calibrati     185.00        0.00      185.00    83687 09/18/20

 090700    TOWN OF FAIRFAX                PARCELIDA    taxes fairfax plant        13329.21        0.00    13329.21    83688 09/18/20

 091275    TRAINERS AUTOMOTIVE CENTER     7865         tire plug                     15.00        0.00       15.00    83689 09/18/20

 044550    VANTAGEPOINT TRANSFER AGENTS-3 PR 091820    PR 091820                   3429.05        0.00     3429.05    83690 09/18/20

 032325    FOOD CITY                      Multiple     Food City                    691.42        0.00      691.42    83691 09/25/20

 GREENDOLP --- None ---                   -- VOID --                                  0.00        0.00        0.00    83692 09/25/20

 MAPLERUN  MAPLE RUN UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTR Q1 FY21      School taxes payable     2026088.63        0.00  2026088.63    83693 09/25/20

 PROPTAXES MARY RYAN                      25073042     25073042- RYAN MARY Tax     1933.78        0.00     1933.78    83694 09/25/20

 PFC       PAUL FRANK & COLLINS           184014       Georgia Mountain Communi    2127.28        0.00     2127.28    83695 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4418099      Total Fuel:                  295.94        0.00      295.94    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4432007      Total Fuel:                   51.41        0.00       51.41    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4432009      Total Fuel:                   61.09        0.00       61.09    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4432010      Total Fuel:                  201.94        0.00      201.94    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4448315      ST. ALBANS,                  101.31        0.00      101.31    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4448316      ST. ALBANS,                   49.36        0.00       49.36    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4448317      ST. ALBANS,                  608.33        0.00      608.33    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4448318      ST. ALBANS,                   68.42        0.00       68.42    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4448319      ST. ALBANS,                  468.68        0.00      468.68    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4462851      ST. ALBANS,                   79.98        0.00       79.98    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4462852      ST. ALBANS,                  182.68        0.00      182.68    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4462853      ST. ALBANS,                  553.88        0.00      553.88    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4462854      ST. ALBANS,                   58.92        0.00       58.92    83696 09/25/20

 077950    S B COLLINS INC                4462855      ST. ALBANS,                  663.12        0.00      663.12    83696 09/25/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      3445.06

 {O!VOID!} --- None ---                   -- VOID --                                  0.00        0.00        0.00    83697 09/25/20

 084600    ST ALBANS FREE LIBRARY         FY21 Q1      Library appropriation      62353.00        0.00    62353.00    83698 09/25/20

 096100    VERMONT STATE TREASURER        09/18/2020   Licenses                    1030.00        0.00     1030.00    83699 09/25/20

 CLARKS    CLARKS TRUCK CENTER            8655         plow fix                   61250.00        0.00    61250.00    83700 09/25/20



10/09/20                                         CITY OF ST. ALBANS Accounts Payable                                         Page 13

02:58 pm                             Check Warrant Report # 18150 Current Prior Next FY Invoices                             a.bryce

                                   For checks For Check Acct 01(General Fund) 09/01/20 To 10/01/20

                                                                                 Purchase    Discount     Amount   Check     Check

 Vendor                                   Invoice      Invoice Description        Amount      Amount       Paid    Number     Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

 PFC       PAUL FRANK & COLLINS           184012       RE: Downtown Development     295.00        0.00      295.00    83701 09/25/20

 PFC       PAUL FRANK & COLLINS           184013       Acquisition of Cooling P    1113.50        0.00     1113.50    83701 09/25/20

 PFC       PAUL FRANK & COLLINS           184015       100-120 Federal Street T    1651.38        0.00     1651.38    83701 09/25/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total      3059.88

 GREENDOLP GREEN DOLPHIN, LLC             2258         195 Federal                 5424.41        0.00     5424.41    83702 09/25/20

 GREENDOLP GREEN DOLPHIN, LLC             2262         Hardack Inv                12074.00        0.00    12074.00    83702 09/25/20

                                                                                                       -----------

                                                                                          Check Total     17498.41

 MVP       MVP HEALTH CARE INC.           SEP 2020     Health Insurance           53817.84        0.00    53817.84 20200901 09/01/20

                                                                               ----------- ----------- -----------

                                Report Total                                  3,133,817.58        0.003,133,817.58

                                                                               =========== =========== ===========

          To the Treasurer of the City of St Albans, We Hereby certify

          that there is due to the several persons whose names are

          listed hereon the sum against each name and that there

          are good and sufficient vouchers supporting the payments

          aggregating $ *3,133,817.58

          Let this be your order for the payments of these amounts.

          CITY COUNCIL:

          _____________________________     ______________________________     ______________________________

          Mayor Timothy Smith               Timothy Hawkins                    James Pelkey

          _____________________________     ______________________________     ______________________________

          Marie Bessette                    Michael McCarthy                   Chad Spooner

          _____________________________     ______________________________     ______________________________

          Kate Laddison                     Thomas Leitz                       Dominic Cloud


	Council Agenda 10-12-20
	5 IA Police DC final
	5a IA Police final 92020
	Complaints of Discrimination or Bias
	Officers from Outside Agencies

	6 Mulheron Resume
	8a Lake Street Truck Turning Solutions for 2020-10-12 - updated
	Signage Plan 2020-10-09.pdf
	TruckRouteFigure1
	TruckRouteFigure2


	8c La Casa Sign for Council 2020-10-12 - updated
	9a CityOfSaintAlbans.ProposalForFoundationsOfRCC.10.2
	9b Council 2020-21Goals
	9c Fullpg Concepts StAlbans No Hate Ad Ver 4 D
	10 a
	10c VCRD Letter
	12a Draft Reg. City Council Minutes 091420
	12b Brendan Deso Statement
	12c Wayne Elliott Memo
	13 Warrant



